
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD

AGENDA FOR THE EXECUTIVE

Members of the Executive are summoned to attend a meeting to be held in Committee 
Room 4, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on 11 July 2019 at 7.00 pm.

Enquiries to : Philippa Green
Tel : 020 7527 3184
E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk
Despatched : 3 July 2019

Membership Portfolio

Councillor Richard Watts Leader of the Council
Councillor Janet Burgess MBE Executive Member Health and Social Care
Councillor Kaya Comer-Schwartz Executive Member for Children, Young People and 

Families
Councillor Andy Hull Executive Member Finance, Performance and 

Community Safety
Councillor Una O'Halloran Executive Member for Community Development
Councillor Asima Shaikh Executive Member for Inclusive Economy and Jobs
Councillor Diarmaid Ward Executive Member for Housing and Development
Councillor Claudia Webbe Executive Member for Environment and Transport

Quorum is 4 Councillors

Please note
It is likely that part of this meeting may need to be held in private as some agenda items 
may involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential information within the terms of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Members of the press and public may 
need to be excluded for that part of the meeting if necessary.  

Details of any representations received about why the meeting should be open to the 
public - none

Public Document Pack



Declarations of interest:

If a member of the Executive has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business and 
it is not yet on the council’s register, the Councillor must declare both the existence and details of 
it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent.  Councillors may also choose to 
declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is already in the register in the interests of openness 
and transparency.  In both the above cases, the Councillor must leave the room without 
participating in discussion of the item.

If a member of the Executive has a personal interest in an item of business they must declare 
both the existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but 
may remain in the room, participate in the discussion and/or vote on the item if they have a 
dispensation from the Chief Executive. 

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for   
    profit or gain.

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect expenses in carrying out 
duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.

(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the Councillors or 
their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the council.

(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer.
(f) Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest.
 (g)     Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of business or 

land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued 
share capital.  

NOTE:    Public questions may be asked on condition that the Chair agrees and that the 
               questions relate to items on the agenda. No prior notice is required. Questions
               will be taken with the relevant item.

               Requests for deputations must be made in writing at least two clear days before
               the meeting and are subject to the Leader’s agreement.  The matter on which the              
               deputation wants to address the Executive must be on the agenda for that 
               meeting.

A. Formal Matters Page

1. Apologies for absence

2. Declarations of Interest

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting 1 - 4

B. Decent and genuinely affordable homes for all

1. Appropriation of land for planning purposes - Wedmore Estate 5 - 38



2. Downsizers Dual Charge Relief (for Council Tax payers) 39 - 52

C. Making Islington a welcoming and attractive borough and 
creating a healthier environment for all

1. Procurement Strategy for Automotive Fuels 53 - 62

D. Ensuring our residents can lead healthy and independent lives

1. GP Surgeries Scrutiny - Recommendations from the Health and Care 
Scrutiny Committee

63 - 88

E. Continuing to be a well-run council and making a difference 
despite limited resources

1. Procurement Strategy and Contract Award for End User Computing 
Hardware

89 - 
102

F. Urgent non-exempt matters

Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered 
urgently by reason of special circumstances.  The reasons for urgency will 
be agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.
 

G. Exclusion of the press and public

To consider whether to exclude the press and public during discussion of 
the remaining items on the agenda, in view of their confidential nature, in 
accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
  

H. Confidential / exempt items for information Page

1. Procurement strategy and contract award for End User Computing - 
exempt appendix

103 - 
104

2. Appropriation of land for planning purposes of site known as land at 
Wedmore Estate, Wedmore Street, London N19 - exempt appendix

105 - 
106

I. Urgent exempt Matters

Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently 
by reason of special circumstances.  The reasons for urgency will be 
agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.  

The next meeting of the Executive will be on 19 September 2019



This page is intentionally left blank



1

London Borough of Islington

Executive -  20 June 2019

Minutes of the meeting of the Executive held at Committee Room 4, Town Hall, 
Upper Street, N1 2UD - Islington Town Hall on  20 June 2019 at 7.00 pm.

Present: Councillors: Watts, Burgess, Hull, O'Halloran, Shaikh, Ward 
and Webbe

Also Present: Councillors: Cutler.

Councillor Richard Watts in the Chair

620 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Councillor Watts welcomed everyone to the meeting, particularly Councillor Vivien 
Cutler, Chair of the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee.

Councillor Watts noted that this would be the last Executive meeting attended by Alan 
Layton, the Director of Financial Management.  Councillor Watts thanked Alan for his 
many years’ service to the borough and wished him well in retirement.

621 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Comer-Schwartz.

622 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None.

623 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED: 

That the Minutes of the meeting on 21 May 2019 be agreed as a correct 
record and the Chair be authorised to sign them. 
 

624 PROCUREMENT STRATEGY FOR HOUSING REPAIRS - ROOFING, 
WITH PROVISION OF SCAFFOLDING REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE 
WORKS 

Councillor Ward introduced the item and advised that this contract provides 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Executive -  20 June 2019

2

additional roofing support to the in-house Housing Repairs Service during 
busier ‘peak’ times.

RESOLVED:

2.1 That the procurement strategy for Roofing Repair Works (with Provision
  for Scaffolding) as outlined in this report be approved.

2.2 That authority be delegated to the Corporate Director of Housing to
  award the contracts following consultation with the Executive Member
 for Housing and Development be agreed.

Reason for decision – to meet the duty to keep housing property in a good 
state of repair. 
Other options considered – none other than as specified in the report.
Conflicts of interest/dispensations granted – none.

625 ISLINGTON SAFEGUARDING PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS 

In the absence of Councillor Comer-Schwartz, Councillor Watts introduced the 
report. Councillor Watts advised that the government asked every local area to 
review its safeguarding arrangements.  We undertook a very thorough review 
involving all our partners and arrived at a new model which is very similar to 
the one in place now.  Ofsted recognised that the current arrangement was 
working well and have confirmed they are happy with the new proposals.  The 
new arrangements will take effect from 1 September 2019.

RESOLVED: 

2.1 That the new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements between 
 Islington Council, Islington Clinical Commissioning Group and the
 Central North Basic Command Unit of the Metropolitan Police Service
 be agreed.

Reason for decision – to fulfil the new statutory requirement to implement 
multi-agency safeguarding arrangements and to retain the strengths of our 
safeguarding arrangements
Other options considered – none other than as specified in the report.
Conflicts of interest/dispensations granted – none.

626 PERMANENT AND FIXED-PERIOD EXCLUSION FROM SCHOOL - 
RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Councillor Vivien Cutler, Chair of Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee 
introduced the report.  

Page 2



Executive -  20 June 2019

3

Councillor Cutler advised that changes to the curriculum, league tables, cuts to 
finances and zero tolerance had led to a general rise in the number of 
exclusions. However, there was significant disparity in the number of 
exclusions between very similar schools, particularly at primary level, where a 
small number of schools were significantly distorting the overall figures.

The committee felt that the investigation should focus on why rates had risen 
so much in some schools compared to others. The committee received a lot of 
written evidence, presentations and spoke to parents, young people and head 
teachers.  It became clear that not all schools were as prepared as they could 
be and in some schools more could be done to support staff who were unable 
to cope with children presenting challenging behaviour other than relying on 
exclusion.  The committee has made a number of recommendations in relation 
to this, including the creation of a best practice guide. 

The committee also looked at the role of school governors and leaders in 
schools and how they can be helped to challenge a negative culture and poor 
processes and how parents can be supported.

Councillor Cutler suggested that the approach had to be to provide the 
strongest possible support to help children remain in mainstream education, 
not only because education itself is important, but to reduce the risks of 
children becoming victims and/or perpetrators of crime. 

Councillor Cutler hoped that the committee’s recommendations would be 
accepted by the Executive. 

Councillor Webbe expressed concern at the disproportionate number of BAME 
children excluded and enquired about the section of the report at the top of 
page 8 titled ‘Supporting parents and carers’.  Councillor Webbe thought that 
there should be a recommendation linked to this, even though some work had 
already been undertaken, so that the Executive was able to address it in their 
response. It was agreed that this would be picked up in the Executive 
response regardless of not being a numbered recommendation. 

Councillor Watts thanked Councillor Cutler and the members of the committee 
for all their work on a very valuable and timely scrutiny.

Reason for decision – to allow the Executive to receive the recommendations 
of the scrutiny committee.
Other options considered – none other than as specified in the report.
Conflicts of interest/dispensations granted – none.

MEETING CLOSED AT 7.25 pm

CHAIR

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7

Housing Directorate
222 Upper Street, London N1 1XR

Report of the Executive Member for Housing and Development

Meeting of: Date: Wards:

 
Executive 11 July 2019

Junction

Delete as appropriate Exempt Non-exempt

APPENDIX 3 TO THIS REPORT IS NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendix 3 to this report is exempt by virtue of the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Part 1, 
paragraph 3 (as amended) in that these documents contain information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).

SUBJECT: Appropriation of Land for Planning Purposes of Site Known 
As Land at Wedmore Estate, Wedmore Street, London N19 

1. Synopsis

1.1 This report seeks the Executive’s agreement to authorise the Corporate Director of Resources to 
appropriate for planning purposes under section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
Council’s property known as Land at Wedmore Estate, Wedmore Street, London N19 (“the 
Land”), edged red on the plan attached.

The appropriation is necessary for the purpose of facilitating the construction on the Land of 19 
new dwelling units comprising 3 x 1 bedroom 2person units, 9 x 2 bedroom 4 person units and 7 
x three bedroom 5 person units, with associated amenity space, 13.6sqm of communal storage 
space, provided in a new residential block ranging from two to six storeys in height along with 
bicycle storage and improvements to the public realm.

Planning permission P2017/4763/FUL has been granted for the development (see Appendix 1). 

1.21.1 Since 17 January 2019 the Council through its Rights of Light consultants, Point 2 Surveyors, has 
been actively investigating the effect that the Council’s proposed development will have on 
adjoining owners and have established that there are several parties that may have the benefit 
of Rights of Light which will be affected by the new development

1.3 The Council is the freeholder of the Land which is held under Part 2 of the Housing Act 1985 in 
the Housing Revenue Account.

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Page 2 of 7

1.4 In order to implement the Wedmore Estate redevelopment, it is necessary for the Council to 
appropriate the Land for planning purposes. 

2. Recommendations

2.1

2.2

2.3

To authorise the Interim Corporate Director of Resources to appropriate the Land from housing 
to planning purposes in accordance with section 122 Local Government Act 1972 and 
subsequent use of the Council’s powers under s203-s206 of the Housing & Planning Act 2016 to 
override rights to light of neighbouring properties that would be infringed by the Wedmore 
Estate redevelopment;

To authorise the Interim Corporate Director of Resources in consultation with the Acting Director 
of Law and Governance and Corporate Director of Housing to agree the settlement of rights of 
light claims with owners and occupiers of the two affected properties and ancillary affected 
leases, together with any associated fees;

To note that the cost of the proposed settlement of rights of light compensation payments and 
associated fees for leaseholders affected by this scheme will be met from the capital budget for 
the Wedmore Estate scheme.

3. Background 

3.1 Islington’s vision for housing as laid down in the Housing Strategy 2014 – 2019 is to make sure 
everyone in Islington has a place to live that is affordable, decent and secure. Secure and 
affordable housing is recognised as an enabler. Housing has an important role in shaping 
healthy places, preventing ill health, supporting residents into work and tackling child poverty. 
The council has a corporate objective to deliver 550 new council homes by 2022.

3.2 The Land is a part of Wedmore Estate and the Council owns the freehold of the Land. The Land 
is currently used as a carpark for residents and children’s play spaces. 

3.3 The redevelopment of the Land will create 19 new dwelling units comprising 3 x 1B2P units, 9 x 
2B4P, and 7 x 3B5P units with associated amenity space, and 13.6sqm of communal storage 
space, provided in a new residential block ranging from two to six storeys in height, along with 
bicycle storage, and improvements to the public realm. All 19 new homes will be for Social Rent.

3.4 The key objectives of the redevelopment of Wedmore Estate are to provide much needed 
genuinely affordable housing as well as social, economic, and environmental benefits to 
Islington’s community.  The new development will replace the existing car parking and children’s 
play areas. All car parking spaces will be relocated elsewhere on the estate and the new play 
area will be integrated with the existing communal garden and improved to replace the tired and 
disjointed facilities allowing for improved surveillance and to remove anti-social behaviour in the 
area.

3.5 The design and construction of the new development uses a range of energy and environmental 
improvements. The benefits will be included in the new building to minimise longer-term running 
costs, and with a target of BREEAM Very Good, create natural benefits through landscaping, 
species protection, along with photo-voltaic cells and rainwater harvesting as examples of 
energy efficiency methods being built in. It will also allow for a future connection to the Bunhill 
district heating network enabling residents to benefit from cheaper energy costs. Some residents 
will have their own gardens on the ground floor and there will be a green bio diverse roof that 
will enhance the ecology on the development.

Page 6



Page 3 of 7

3.6
The Council and representative have already communicated with owners of the properties 
confirming their statutory rights will not be affected by the redevelopment and will be working 
with them to reach voluntary agreement.

4 Proposal and Issues

4.1 Without the exercise of the council’s appropriation powers, parties who are affected by the 
diminution of their rights to light have the ability to bring injunction proceedings to prevent the 
development. This could potentially halt the project and would result in a delay to the delivery of 
the development.

4.2 Once the Land is appropriated for planning purposes and since planning permission for the 
development has already been granted, the Council will be empowered under section 203 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 to override existing rights and extinguish adjoining owners’ 
rights without the possibility of legal challenge.

4.3 Pursuant to section 203, all rights of light claims are resolved by payment of statutory 
compensation to affected parties.

4.4 The Council’s representative has attempted to make contact with all the affected parties and is 
trying to commence negotiations with the appointed surveyor of the owners of a freehold.  Only 
one of the leaseholders contacted had reverted to the Council initially and subsequently did not 
respond to further contact. A list of the affected parties and a detailed breakdown of the stage 
of negotiations can be found in the exempt Appendix 3.

4.5 If agreement on compensation payment is not reached with any party, the matter can be 
referred to the Upper Tribunal for determination.

5. Options and Analysis

5.1 Do nothing option: if the Council decides not to appropriate the Land then there is the potential 
that affected adjoining owners could bring injunction proceedings which could stop the 
construction of the project or delay its delivery. Delaying delivery of the project could result in 
the project becoming financially unviable.

5.2 Appropriation option: by exercising appropriation powers the threat of injunction proceedings for 
the infringement of rights of light is extinguished. Affected parties will still receive compensation 
but they will not be able to delay or stop the development.

6. Implications

6.1 Financial implications
6.1.1 The certified market value for the purposes of appropriating the land, from the HRA to the 

General Fund, associated with the whole development site at Wedmore estate is Nil.

6.1.2 The certified market value for the purposes of appropriating the land, back from the General 
Fund to the HRA, associated with the social rented unit builds at Wedmore estate is Nil.

6.2 Legal Implications
Statutory Power to Appropriate

Page 7



Page 4 of 7

6.2.1 This report seeks Executive approval to appropriate, under section 122 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 (LGA), land belonging to the Council which is used as car parking spaces and a 
children’s play area that are to be re-provided elsewhere on the estate and  is therefore no 
longer required for the purpose for which it is currently held. It is now required for planning 
purposes namely the construction of 19 new dwelling units comprising 3 x 1B2P units, 9 x 2B4P, 
and 7 x 3B5P units with associated amenity space, and 13.6sqm of communal storage space, 
provided in a new residential block ranging from two to six storeys in height, along with bicycle 
storage, and improvements to the public realm in accordance with the planning permission 
already granted.

6.2.2 The appropriation does not require the Secretary of State’s consent as there are no houses 
situated on the Land to be appropriated (section 19 Housing Act 1985).

6.2.3 Any reference to appropriation for planning purposes is, by  virtue  of  the provisions in section 
246 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (TCPA), regarded as a reference to 
appropriation for the purposes for which land can compulsorily be acquired under section 226 
TCPA.

6.2.4 By virtue of s226(1A) TCPA a local authority must not exercise the power granted under 
s226(1)(a) unless the development, redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to the land 
is likely, they think, to contribute to the achievement, the promotion or improvement of any one 
of more of the following objectives - the economic, the social and/or the environmental well-
being of the area.

6.2.5 The Council must also be satisfied that the Land is no longer required for the statutory purposes 
for which it was originally held before the appropriation. This “surplus to requirements” 
component of s122 of the LGA enables the Council to prioritise relative needs. It follows that the 
Council is entitled to look at the current use of the Land as well as the prospective use of the 
Land and on this project, what the Land can deliver. The Council can consider matters such as 
whether sufficient use is currently made  of the Land  and the need to secure an enhanced form 
of redevelopment.

6.2.6 Appropriation however requires more than a mere decision to hold land for a different purpose. 
Case law dictates that an authority cannot properly appropriate land to planning purposes unless 
it considers that the resulting interference with third party rights is necessary. A local authority 
cannot properly appropriate land to planning purposes unless it considers that it has good 
reason to interfere with third party rights which would be overridden by section 203 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 as outlined below.

Power to Interfere with Rights
6.2.7 Reliance on s203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 to override the rights of adjoining 

owners and any other property rights on an appropriation of land for planning purposes is 
dependent upon the requirements in s226 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (TCPA)  ,having 
been satisfied that is  there is a compelling case in the public interest for the appropriation of 
this land, having regard to the European Convention on Human Rights must apply before 
construction of the 19 new dwelling units with associated amenity space, and 13.6sqm of 
communal storage space, along with bicycle storage, and improvements to the public realm, 
commences.

6.2.8 The enabling provisions in s203 (1) and (4) of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 are required 
for the construction, maintenance and use of the redevelopment, to the extent that this will 
interfere with private rights of adjoining owners. Several adjoining private landowners enjoy 
rights of lights (“Dominant Owners”) which will be affected by the new development. The 
operative provisions in section 203-207 are necessary in order to override these rights as well as 

Page 8



Page 5 of 7

to override other property rights, including any unknown rights that may impede the 
construction or use of the units in the Wedmore Estate redevelopment.

6.2.9 Negotiations with the Dominant Owners of those properties affected by the redevelopment have 
been taking place for some time and reasonable attempts to reach voluntary agreement have 
been made as set out in this report. However, in order to ensure that  the Wedmore Estate  
redevelopment can proceed within the agreed timescale and cost it is necessary for the Council 
to appropriate the site for planning purposes This will not preclude the continuation of 
negotiations with the Dominant Owners and it is anticipated  that non-statutory based 
compensation packages will be agreed with most, if not all of them in due course.

6.2.10 If the Council were to commence the development works without appropriating the site from 
housing to planning purposes, it would potentially be infringing those affected Dominant 
Owners’ rights to light. The remedy for such an infringement by the affected Dominant Owners 
is an injunction. It is an equitable remedy and is within the court’s discretion to grant. The court 
can award damages where it considers this an adequate remedy. If the adjoining owners choose 
to institute proceedings for an actionable injury the court might also grant an injunction pending 
the court’s decision on whether there has been an infringement of their rights or not. The 
consequences of this for the Council will be to set back commencement of the development and 
delivery.

6.3 Human Rights and Residents Impact Assessments
6.3.18.1 The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster 
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do 
not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the 
need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life. The 
council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding.

8.2
6.3.2 The RIA has been published and a copy of the RIA is attached in Appendix 2 of this report.  

6.3.3 The DCLG’s Guidance on Compulsory purchase process and The Crichel Down Rules (February 
2018) advises that compulsory acquisition under s.203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 “... 
should only be made where there is a compelling case in the public interest. An acquiring 
authority should be sure that the purposes sufficiently justify… interfering with the human rights 
of those with interests in the land affected....". Furthermore, following the introduction of the 
Human Rights Act 1998 the City Council is required to act in accordance with the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) in deciding whether or not to implement the 
arrangements.

6.3.4 Article 1 of the First Protocol of the ECHR provides that every natural or legal person is entitled 
to peaceful enjoyment of their possessions (“human rights”). Appropriation of property engages 
s.203 to authorise interference with rights of light involves interference with a person's rights 
under this Article. As these rights are enjoyed by corporate bodies as well as individuals all of 
those whose rights will be affected can claim an infringement. However, the right to peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions provided under this Article is a qualified rather than absolute right, as 
the wording of Article 1 of Protocol 1 permits the deprivation of an individual’s possessions 
where it is in the public interest and subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the 
general principles of international law. 

6.3.5 Due to the necessity for the Council to comply with its obligations under Article 8 of the Human 
Rights Act 1998 where the Council appropriates land for planning purposes, the Council has also 
informed the Dominant Owners of each of the affected property owner in writing of the Council’s 
intention to appropriate and its effect on their rights of light.

Page 9



Page 6 of 7

6.3.6 Article 8(1) provides that everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his 
home and his correspondence. Article 8 would be engaged as a result of interference with rights 
to light to a private residence. Article 8(2) allows for interference which is “in accordance with 
the law and is necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national security, public 
safety or the economic well-being of the country, for the protection of health and morals, or for 
the protection of the rights and freedoms of others”. 

6.3.7 There must therefore be a balancing exercise between the public interest and the individual's 
rights whereby any interference in the individual's rights must be necessary and proportionate. 
"Proportionate" in this context means that the interference must be no more than is necessary 
to achieve the identified legitimate aim, thereby striking a "fair balance" between the rights of 
the individual and the rights of the public. 

6.3.8 Planning permission has been granted for the development of the Land and the public benefits 
arising from the development, and thus the public interest, are set out earlier in this report. 
Furthermore, notwithstanding the overriding of their ‘rights to light’, compensation will still be 
available to those who are affected. On this basis it is considered that the public interest in 
facilitating the development of the Land outweighs the rights of the individuals to peaceful 
enjoyment of their possessions and to their homes and that the proposed use of s.203 powers 
results in a proportionate infringement.

7. Conclusion and Reason for the decision

7.11.1 By exercising its appropriation powers, the Council will ensure that its redevelopment of the 
Land proceeds in accordance with the planning permission already granted. 

Appendices
 Appendix 1 – Copy of planning permission P2017/4763/FUL
 Appendix 2 – Copy of Residents Impact Assessment 
 Appendix 3 - Breakdown of the stage of communications and negotiations in - Exempt

Background papers: 
 None

Final report clearance:

Signed by:

Executive Member for Housing and Development Date: 1 July 2019

Report Author: Mathew Carvalho, New Homes project Manager
Tel: 0207 527 8796
Email: mathew.carvalho@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications  Author: Lydia Hajimichael 
Tel: 0207 527 5160
Email: Lydia.Hajimichael@islington.gov.uk

Page 10



Page 7 of 7

Legal Implications Author: Mei Wang
Tel: 0207 527 3213
Email: Mei.Wang@islington.gov.uk

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING DECISION NOTICE

HTA Design LLP
78 Chamber Street
London 
E1 8BL

Development Management Service
Planning and Development Division
Environment & Regeneration Department
PO Box 3333
222 Upper Street
LONDON  N1 1YA

Case Officer: Stefan Sanctuary

T: 020 7527 2953
E: planning@islington.gov.uk

Issue Date: 30 October 2018
Application No: P2017/4763/FUL

(Please quote in all correspondence)

P-DEC-AP1

Dear Sir or Madam

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACTS

BOROUGH COUNCIL'S DECISION: Approve with conditions and legal agreement

Notice is hereby given of the above stated decision of Islington Borough Council, the Local Planning 
Authority, in pursuance of its powers under the above mentioned Acts and Rules, Orders and 
Regulations made thereunder, relating to the application / development referred to below, at the 
location indicated, subject to the condition(s) listed and in accordance with the plans submitted, save 
insofar as may be otherwise required by the condition(s).

Location: Land at Wedmore Estate , Wedmore Street, LONDON, N19 

Application Type: Full Planning (Council's Own)

Date of Application: 05 December 2017 Application Received: 05 December 2017

Application Valid: 13 December 2017 Application Target: 14 March 2018

DEVELOPMENT:

The construction of 19 new dwelling units comprising 3 x 1B2P units, 9 x 2B4P, and 7 x 3B5P units 
with associated amenity space, and 13.6sqm of communal storage space, provided in a new 
residential block ranging from two to six storeys in height, along with bicycle storage, and 
improvements to the public realm.

PLAN NOS:

Existing Drawings: AL(0)100; AL(0)101; AL(0)102; AL(0)103; AL(0)104
Existing Site Survey dated February 2017;
Proposed Plans: AL(0)200 Rev P5; AL(0)201 Rev P5; AL(0)202 Rev P9; AL(0)203
Rev P9; AL(0)204 Rev P9; AL(0)205 Rev P8; AL(0)206 Rev P8; AL(0)207 Rev P8;
AL(0)208 Rev P4; AL(0)209 Rev P5; AL(0)210 Rev P5; AL(0)211 Rev P4; AL(0)212
Rev P4; AL(0)300.
Underground Utility Survey dated June 2017;
Design & Access Statement by BFF dated February 2018;
Planning Statement by HTA dated December 2017;
Statement of Community Involvement by HTA dated December 2017;
Daylight & Sunlight Report by Point Surveyors dated November 2017;

Page 13



Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Landscape Planning Limited dated October 2017
Sustainable Design & Construction Statement by Baily Garner dated October 2017;
Code for Sustainable Homes Flood Risk Assessment by MLM Group;
Transport Statement and Travel Plan by Lime Transport;
Wedmore Residential Development Design Note by Baily Garner;
Groundsure Report & Drawings dated October 2017;
Drainage Statement by MLM Group;
Energy Statement Version 2 by MLM Group dated January 2018;
Thermal Comfort Analysis Report dated 21st December 2017;
Response to Sustainability Issued by HTA dated March 2018;
Canopy Calculations by Sharon Hosegood Associates dated March 2018;
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report dated 9th November 2017;
Phase 1 Contamination Assessment by MLM Group;
Internal Daylight Report dated November 2017;
Play Space Management & Maintenance Plan dated December 2017;
Draft Green Performance Plan dated November 2017 by Baily Garner.

CONDITIONS:

1   COMMENCEMENT: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Chapter 
5).

Page 14



P-DEC-AP1

2   APPROVED PLANS: The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans:

Existing Drawings AL(0)100; AL(0)101; AL(0)102; AL(0)103; AL(0)104
Existing Site Survey dated February 2017;
Proposed Plans AL(0)200 Rev P5; AL(0)201 Rev P5; AL(0)202 Rev P9; AL(0)203
Rev P9; AL(0)204 Rev P9; AL(0)205 Rev P8; AL(0)206 Rev P8; AL(0)207 Rev P8;
AL(0)208 Rev P4; AL(0)209 Rev P5; AL(0)210 Rev P5; AL(0)211 Rev P4; AL(0)212
Rev P4; AL(0)300.
Underground Utility Survey dated June 2017;
Design & Access Statement by BFF dated February 2018;
Planning Statement by HTA dated December 2017;
Statement of Community Involvement by HTA dated December 2017;
Daylight & Sunlight Report by Point Surveyors dated November 2017;
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Landscape Planning Limited dated October 2017
Sustainable Design & Construction Statement by Baily Garner dated October 2017;
Code for Sustainable Homes Flood Risk Assessment by MLM Group;
Transport Statement and Travel Plan by Lime Transport;
Wedmore Residential Development Design Note by Baily Garner;
Groundsure Report & Drawings dated October 2017;
Drainage Statement by MLM Group;
Energy Statement Version 2 by MLM Group dated January 2018;
Thermal Comfort Analysis Report dated 21st December 2017;
Response to Sustainability Issued by HTA dated March 2018;
Canopy Calculations by Sharon Hosegood Associates dated March 2018;
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report dated 9th November 2017;
Phase 1 Contamination Assessment by MLM Group;
Internal Daylight Report dated November 2017;
Play Space Management & Maintenance Plan dated December 2017;
Draft Green Performance Plan dated November 2017 by Baily Garner.

REASON: To comply with Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Act 1990 as amended and 
the Reason for Grant and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

Page 15



3   MATERIALS / SAMPLES: Details and samples of all facing materials shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure work of the 
relevant phase commencing on site. The details and samples shall include:

Facing Brickwork(s); Sample panels of proposed brickwork to be used showing the a)
colour, texture, pointing and textured brickwork and boundary walls shall be provided;
Window details and balconies / balustrades;b)
Roof materials including brick tiles;c)
Metal cladding;d)
Balcony detail including acoustic specification of screening;e)
Doors and access points;f)
Pre-cast stone cills;g)
Canopies;h)
Green procurement plan; andi)
Any other materials to be used.j)

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and 
shall be maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the resulting 
appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard.

4   CEMP: A Construction Environmental Management Plan assessing the environmental impacts 
(including (but not limited to) noise & vibration and air quality including dust, smoke and odour) of 
the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to any works commencing on site. The report shall assess impacts during the construction 
phase of the development on nearby residents and other occupiers together with means of 
mitigating any identified impacts. Reference should be made to LBI's Code of Practice for 
Construction, BS5228:2009+2014, the GLA’s SPG on control of dust and
emissions from construction and demolition, the Non Road Mobile Machinery register, CLOCs 
status for contractors and any other relevant guidance.

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and no 
change therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety and the free flow of traffic on 
streets, and to mitigate the impacts of the development.

5   OBSCURED GLAZING: Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved, further details of obscured 
glazing and privacy screens to prevent overlooking to neighbouring properties in Weatherbury
House shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
superstructure works commencing on site.

The obscure glazing and privacy screens shall be installed prior to the occupation of the 
relevant units and retained as such permanently thereafter. 

REASON: In the interest of preventing undue overlooking between habitable rooms within the 
development itself, to protect the future amenity and privacy of residents.

Page 16



P-DEC-AP1

6   ACCESSIBLE HOUSING - MAJOR SCHEMES (DETAILS): Notwithstanding the Design and 
Access Statement and plans hereby approved, 17 of the new residential units shall be 
constructed to meet the requirements of Category 2 of the National Standard for Housing 
Design as set out in the Approved Document M 2015 ‘Accessible and adaptable dwellings’ M4 
(2) and 2 units shall be constructed to meet the requirements of Category 3 of the National 
Standard for Housing Design as set out in the Approved Document M 2015 ‘Wheelchair user 
dwellings’ M4 (3).

A total of 2 x 2B4P units on the ground floor shall be provided to Category 3 standards.

The development shall be constructed strictly in accordance with the details so approved.

REASON: To secure the provision of visitable and adaptable homes appropriate to meet 
diverse and changing needs.

7   SOLAR PANELS: The proposed Solar Photovoltaic Panels shown on approved plan 
AL(0)208.P4, which shall provide for no less than a 4.92kWp of energy, shall be installed and 
operational prior to the first occupation of the development. Should there be any changes to the 
proposed solar panels, then details showing the revised arrangement providing at least the 
same amount of output shall be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. These 
details shall include but not be limited to:

Location;§
Output of panels§
Area of panels; and§
Design (including elevation plans).§

The final agreed scheme shall be installed and in operation prior to the first occupation of the 
development.

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and 
shall be maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and to secure sustainable development.

8   WATER USE: The development shall be designed to achieve a water use target of no more 
than 95 litres per person per day, including by incorporating water efficient fixtures and fittings. 

REASON: To ensure the sustainable use of water.

Page 17



9   GREEN / BROWN ROOF: Prior to any superstructure work commencing on the development 
details of the biodiversity (green/brown) roofs shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

The green/brown roof shall:

Be biodiversity based with extensive substrate base (depth 80 -150mm);a)
Contribute towards a 50% reduction in surface water run-off; andb)
Be planted/seeded with a mix of species within the first planting season following the c)
practical completion of the building works (the seed mix shall be focused on wildflower 
planting, and shall contain no more than a maximum of 25% sedum).

The biodiversity (green/brown) roofs should be maximised across the site and shall not be used 
as an amenity or sitting out space of any kind whatsoever and shall only be used in the case of 
essential maintenance or repair, or escape in case of emergency.

The biodiversity roof(s) shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details as approved, 
shall be laid out within 3 months of next available appropriate planting season after the 
construction of the building it is located on and shall be maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision towards 
creation of habitats, valuable areas for biodiversity and minimise run-off.

10  SUDS and DRAINAGE: The SUDS measures as outlined in the approved Drainage Statement 
and Code for Sustainable Homes Flood Risk Assessment (by MLM) shall be installed and 
operational prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved.

No building(s) hereby approved shall be occupied unless and until the sustainable drainage 
scheme for the site has been installed/completed strictly in accordance with the approved 
details.

The scheme shall thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
details.

REASON: To ensure that sustainable management of water and minimise the potential for 
surface level flooding.

Page 18



P-DEC-AP1

11  ENERGY EFFICIENCY: The energy efficiency measures as outlined within the approved 
Energy Statement (by Baily Garner) which shall provide for no less than a 17.09% on-site total 
C02 reduction in comparison with total emissions from a building which complies with Building 
Regulations 2013 shall be installed and operational prior to the first occupation of the 
development.

Should there be any change to the energy efficiency measures within the approved Energy 
Statement, the following should be submitted and approved:

A revised SDCS, which shall provide for no less than a 17.09% onsite total C02 reduction in 
comparison with total emissions from a building which complies with Building Regulations 2013.

The final agreed scheme shall be installed and in operation prior to the first occupation of the 
relevant phase.

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and 
shall be maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and to secure sustainable development.

Page 19



12  LANDSCAPING: Notwithstanding the submitted detail and the development hereby approved a 
landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include the following details:

existing and proposed underground services and their relationship to both hard and soft a)
landscaping;
proposed trees: their location, species, size and section showing rooting area;b)
soft plantings: including grass and turf areas, shrub and herbaceous areas;c)
topographical survey: including earthworks, ground finishes, top soiling with both d)
conserved and imported topsoil(s), levels, drainage and fall in drain types;
enclosures and boundary treatment: including types, dimensions and treatments of walls, e)
fences, screen walls, barriers, rails, retaining walls and hedges;
hard landscaping: including ground surfaces, kerbs, edges, ridge and flexible pavings, f)
unit paving, furniture, steps and if applicable synthetic surfaces;
biodiversity value of the proposed landscaping;g)
inclusive design principles adopted in the landscaped features;h)
phasing of landscaping and planting;i)
all playspace equipment and structures;j)
bird and bat boxes; andk)
any other landscaping feature(s) forming part of the scheme.l)

All landscaping in accordance with the approved scheme shall be completed / planted during the 
first planting season following practical completion of the relevant phase of the development 
hereby approved in accordance with the approved planting phase. The landscaping and tree 
planting shall have a two-year maintenance / watering provision following planting and any 
existing tree shown to be retained or trees or shrubs to be planted as part of the approved 
landscaping scheme which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five 
years of completion of the development shall be replaced with the same species or an approved 
alternative to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority within the next planting season.

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and 
shall be maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: In the interest of biodiversity, sustainability, playspace and to ensure that a 
satisfactory standard of visual amenity is provided and maintained.

13  ARBORICULTURAL METHOD STATEMENT: Prior to the commencement of the development 
hereby approved (including demolition and all preparatory work), a scheme for the protection of 
the retained trees, in accordance with BS 5837:2012, including a tree protection plan(s) (TPP) 
and an arboricultural method statement (AMS) including details of all tree protection monitoring 
and site supervision shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

The development thereafter shall be implemented in strict accordance with the approved details.

REASON: Required prior to commencement of development to satisfy the Local Planning 
Authority that the trees to be retained will not be damaged during demolition or construction and 
to protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and locality, in accordance 
with 7.21 of the London Plan 2016, policies: CS7, CS15A, B and F of the Islington Core 
Strategy 2011 and 6.5 of the DM Policy 2013 and pursuant to section 197 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990

Page 20



P-DEC-AP1

14  PRE-COMMENCEMENT MEETING: Before any development or construction work begins, a 
pre-commencement meeting shall be held on site and attended by the developers appointed 
arboricultural consultant, the site manager/foreman and a representative from the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) to discuss details of the working procedures and agree either the 
precise position of the approved tree protection measures to be installed OR that all tree 
protection measures have been installed in accordance with the approved tree protection plan. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details or any 
variation as may subsequently be agreed in writing by the LPA.

REASON: Required prior to the commencement of development in order that the Local Planning 
Authority may be satisfied that the trees to be retained will not be damaged during development 
works and to ensure that, as far as is possible, the work is carried out in accordance with the 
approved details pursuant to section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in 
accordance with 7.21 of the London Plan 2016, policies: CS7, CS15A, B and F of the Islington 
Core Strategy 2011 and 6.5 of the DM policy 2013.

15  SITE SUPERVISION: The completed schedule of site supervision and monitoring of the
arboricultural protection measures as approved in condition (13) shall be submitted for approval 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority within 28 days from completion of the development 
hereby permitted. This condition may only be fully discharged on completion of the development, 
subject to satisfactory written evidence of compliance through contemporaneous supervision 
and monitoring of the tree protection throughout construction by a suitably qualified and pre-
appointed tree specialist.

REASON: In order to ensure compliance with the tree protection and arboricultural supervision 
details submitted under condition (insert condition(s)) pursuant to section 197 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 in accordance with 7.21 of the London Plan 2016, policies: CS7, 
CS15A, B and F of the Islington Core Strategy 2011 and 6.5 of the DM policy 2013.

16  NOISE OR FIXED PLANT: Prior to the first occupation of the residential flats hereby approved 
sound insulation shall be installed to the Block 6 plant room sufficient to ensure that the noise 
level within those residential flats does not exceed NR25(Leq) 23:00 - 07:00 (bedrooms) and 
NR30 (Leq) 07:00 - 2300 (living rooms and bedrooms).

REASON: To ensure that an appropriate standard of residential accommodation is provided. 

17  LIGHTING PLAN: Full details of the lighting across the site shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the relevant phase of the 
development hereby approved.

The details shall include the location and full specification of: all lamps; light levels/spill lamps, 
floodlights, support structures, hours of operation and technical details on how impacts on bat 
foraging will be minimised. The lighting measures shall be carried out strictly in accordance with 
the details so approved, shall be installed prior to occupation of the development and shall be 
maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: To ensure that any resulting general or security lighting is appropriately located, 
designed do not adversely impact neighbouring residential amenity and are appropriate to the 
overall design of the buildings as well as protecting the biodiversity value of the site.

Page 21



18  BAT SURVEYS: Prior to commencement of works hereby approved a bat survey of the site 
shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The agreed recommendations within the approved bat survey shall be carried out prior to 
commencement of works.

REASON: To ensure that habitats are suitably protected during the construction process.

19  NO PLUMBING OR PIPES: Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved, no plumbing, down 
pipes, rainwater pipes or foul pipes other than those shown on the approved plans shall be 
located to the external elevations of buildings hereby approved without obtaining express 
planning consent unless submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority as 
part of discharging this condition.

REASON: The Local Planning Authority considers that such plumbing and pipes would 
potentially detract from the appearance of the building and undermine the current assessment 
of the application. 

20  REFUSE / RECYCLING: Details of refuse / recycling storage shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure work commencing 
on site. 

The dedicated refuse / recycling enclosure(s) approved shall be provided prior to the first 
occupation of the development hereby approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: To secure the necessary physical waste enclosures to support the development and 
to ensure that responsible waste management practices are adhered to.

21  CYCLE PARKING: Details of bicycle storage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure work commencing on site.

The approved bicycle storage shall be provided prior to the first occupation of the development 
hereby approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available and easily accessible on site, to 
promote sustainable modes of transport and to secure the high quality design of the structures 
proposed.

22  LIFTS: All lifts hereby approved shall be installed and operational prior to the first occupation of 
the floorspace hereby approved.

REASON: To ensure that inclusive and accessible routes are provided throughout the 
floorspace at all floors and also accessible routes through the site are provided to ensure no 
one is excluded from full use and enjoyment of the site.

Page 22



P-DEC-AP1

23  ROOF-LEVEL STRUCTURES: Details of any roof-level structures (including lift over-runs, 
flues/extracts and plant room) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to any superstructure work commencing on site. The details shall 
include a justification for the height and size of the roof-level structures, their location, height 
above roof level, specifications and cladding.

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and no 
change therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. No roof-level structures shall be installed other than those approved. 

REASON: In the interests of good design and also to ensure that the Local Planning Authority 
may be satisfied that any roof-level structures do not have a harmful impact on the surrounding 
street scene or the character and appearance of the area in accordance with policies 3.5, 7.4, 
7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan 2016, policies CS8 and CS9 of Islington’s Core Strategy 2011, 
and policies DM2.1 and DM2.3 of Islington’s Development Management Policies 2013.

24  OUTSIDE OF NESTING SEASON: The clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place outside 
the nesting season, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: In order to protect wildlife.

Your attention is drawn to any INFORMATIVES that may be listed below

1 PLANNING OBLIGATIONS: You are advised that this permission has been granted subject to 
the completion of a director level agreement to secure agreed planning obligations.

2 DEFINITION OF ‘SUPERSTRUCTURE’ AND ‘PRACTICAL COMPLETION’
A number of conditions attached to this permission have the time restrictions ‘prior to 
superstructure works commencing on site’ and/or ‘following practical completion’. The council 
considers the definition of ‘superstructure’ as having its normal or dictionary meaning, which is: 
the part of a building above its foundations. The council considers the definition of ‘practical 
completion’ to be: when the work reaches a state of readiness for use or occupation even 
though there may be outstanding works/matters to be carried out.

3 CIL INFORMATIVE: Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), this development is liable to pay the Mayor 
of London’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). This will be calculated in accordance with the 
Mayor of London’s CIL Charging Schedule 2012.

One of the development parties must now assume liability to pay CIL by submitting an 
Assumption of Liability Notice to the Council at cil@islington.gov.uk. The Council will then issue 
a Liability Notice setting out the amount of CIL that is payable.

Failure to submit a valid Assumption of Liability Notice and Commencement Notice prior to 
commencement of the development may result in surcharges being imposed. The above forms 
can be found on the planning portal at:
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil.

4 CAR-FREE INFORMATIVE: INFORMATIVE: (Car-Free Development) All new developments 
are car free in accordance with Policy CS10 of the Islington Core Strategy 2011. This means 
that occupiers of the proposed development will have no ability to obtain car parking permits, 
except for parking needed to meet the needs of disabled people, or other exemption under the 
Council Parking Policy Statement.

Page 23



5 GROUNDWATER INFORMATIVE: A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames 
Water will be required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made 
without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the 
Water Industry Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer.

Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by telephoning 
02035779483 or by emailing wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk.

Application forms should be completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality.

6 WATER PRESSURE: INFORMATIVE: Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a 
minimum pressure of 10m head (approximately 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the 
point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this 
minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development.

7 SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE: In respect of surface water it is recommended that the 
applicant should ensure that storm flows are attenuated or regulated into the receiving public 
network through on or off site storage. When it is proposed to connect to a combined public 
sewer, the site drainage should be separate and combined at the final manhole nearest the 
boundary. Connections are not permitted for the removal of groundwater. Where the developer 
proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer 
Services will be required. The contact number is 0800 009 3921.

8 INFORMATIVE: To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has 
produced policies and written guidance, all of which are available on the Council’s website. A 
pre-application advice service is also offered and encouraged.

The LPA and the applicant have worked positively and proactively in a collaborative manner 
through both the pre-application and the application stages to deliver an acceptable 
development in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF The LPA delivered the decision 
in a timely manner in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF.

9 MATERIALS: In addition to compliance with condition 3 materials procured for the development 
should be selected to be sustainably sourced and otherwise minimise their environmental 
impact, including through maximisation of recycled content, use of local suppliers and by 
reference to the BRE’s Green Guide Specification.

Page 24



P-DEC-AP1

10 CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT: You are advised that condition 4 covers transport and 
environmental health issues and should include the following information:

identification of construction vehicle routes;1.
how construction related traffic would turn into and exit the site;2.
details of banksmen to be used during construction works;3.
the method of demolition and removal of material from the site;4.
the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;5.
loading and unloading of plant and materials;6.
storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;7.
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 8.
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
wheel washing facilities;9.
measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;10.
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction 11.
works;
noise;12.
air quality including dust, smoke and odour;13.
vibration; and14.
TV reception.15.

11 SPRINKLER SYSTEM: While fire safety and floor layout will be further considered though the 
building control process, you are strongly advised by the London Fire and Emergency Planning 
Authority to install sprinkler systems as these significantly reduce the damage caused by fire 
and the consequential cost to business and housing providers, and can reduce the risk to life.

12 TREE WORKS: You are requested to update the Council's Tree Preservation Officer at each 
stage of supervision as conditioned above (condition 13 ? 15). Please supply reports to the 
Tree Preservation Officer either via email (gavin.rees@islington.gov.uk).

13 TREE WORKS: The trees on this site are managed by the Council and all tree works will need 
to be carried out by the Council's Tree Service. Please contact Paul Zepler, Principle Tree 
Officer via email (paul.zepler@islington.gov.uk) to arrange approved tree pruning or planting.

14 TREES: The following British Standards should be referred to:

BS: 3998:2010 Tree work - Recommendationsa)
b) BS: 5837 (2012) Trees in relation to demolition, design and construction -b)
Recommendations

Certified that this document contains a true record of a decision of the Council

Yours faithfully 

KAREN SULLIVAN
SERVICE DIRECTOR - PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
AND PROPER OFFICER

Page 25



SUBSEQUENT REQUIREMENTS FOLLOWING 

THE GRANT OF PERMISSION

The Building Acts and Building Regulations1.
To ensure compliance with the Building Acts and Building Regulations, you should contact the 
Building Control Service regarding the development and any intended works.
T: 020 7527 5999 
E: building.control@islington.gov.uk

Street Naming and Numbering2.
If the development results in changes to any postal address or addresses on the site you 
should contact the Street Naming and Numbering section.  Failure to do so can result in delays 
to conveyancing, the connection of services or the initiation of postal deliveries.
T: 020 7527 2245 / 2611
E: address.management@islington.gov.uk

Environmental Health, Trading Standards and Licensing3.
You may need to comply with various Acts and therefore you should contact Commercial and/or 
Residential Environmental Health and/or Trading Standards and/or Licensing.  The Licensing 
Team deal with premises that sell alcohol, provide entertainment, late night refreshment, 
gambling and special treatments such as beauty therapies, tattoos and saunas.
T: 020 7527 3186 (Commercial/Residential/Trading Standards)
T: 020 7527 3031 (Licensing)
E: Street.Trading@islington.gov.uk

Licensing@islington.gov.uk
Residential.Envh@islington.gov.uk
Commercial.Envh@islington.gov.uk

Inclusive Design and Access for Disabled People4.
The London Plan, Islington’s Core Strategy and relevant Supplementary Planning Documents 
and Part M of the Building Regulations require the creation/maintenance of an Inclusive 
Environment.  If you require any further information or advice on the application of the principles 
of Inclusive Design contact the Inclusive Design officers.  Other applicable standards and 
design guidance are set out in: 

Inclusive Mobility – www.dft.gov.uk/publications/inclusive-mobility§
Approved Document M – Access to and use of buildings§
Islington’s Accessible Housing SPD –§

http://www.islington.gov.uk/publicrecords/library/Environmental-protection/Publicity/Public-
consultation/2011-2012/(2012-03-03)-Accessible-Housing-SPD-Adopted-March-09.pdf

Islington’s Inclusive Landscape Design SPD - §
http://www.islington.gov.uk/publicrecords/library/Environmental-protection/Quality-and-
performance/Reporting/2011-2012/(2012-03-03)-Inclusive-Landscape-Design-SPD-
January-2010.pdf

BS8300:2009 – Design of buildings and their approaches to meet the needs of §
disabled people.

Regardless of any Planning or Building Regulations approval your client and or future occupant 
may have duties under the Equalities Act 2010 (which supersedes the Disability Discrimination 
Act).  Those duties include to take all reasonable steps to ensure that disabled person 
experiences no less favourable treatment, which will involve the elimination of obstructive 
physical features.  
T: 020 7527 2394
E: planning@islington.gov.uk

Page 26



P-DEC-AP1

Highways5.
In order to comply with the provisions of the Highways Act, and/or other Highways matters, you 
should contact Highways Services.  Hoardings, scaffolding, skips, overhanging structures, 
anything on the public highway (tables and chairs for example) are regulated by the Streetworks 
Team.
T: 020 7527 2000
E: streetworks@islington.gov.uk

Parking Suspensions6.
In order to secure parking bays for the sole use of contractors on site, you should contact 
Parking and CCTV Services.
T: 020 7527 1377/6262/6129
E: parkingsuspensions@islington.gov.uk

Trees7.
Any trees which are the subject of a Tree Preservation Order or within a conservation area 
may not be lopped, felled, uprooted or wilfully damaged without permission.  Should you wish to 
undertake any such works contact the Tree Service.
T: 020 7527 2417/2150
E: treeservice@islington.gov.uk

Storage and Collection of Refuse8.
In order to ensure the intended approach/strategy to refuse, recycling, waste removal is 
acceptable, you should contact Street Environment Services.
T: 020 7527 2000
E: contact@islington.gov.uk

Nuisance from Construction Work9.
Nuisance from demolition and construction works is subject to control under the Control of 
Pollution Act.  The normal approved noisy working hours are:

08:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday§
08:00 to 13:00 Saturday§
No work on Sundays and Public Holidays§

If you anticipate any difficulty in carrying out construction works other than within normal working 
hours (above) and by means that would minimise disturbance to adjoining properties then you 
should contact the Pollution Project Team.
T: 020 7527 7272
E: pollution@islington.gov.uk

Fire Precautions10.
If you require continued maintenance of fire precautions in existing buildings where no building 
work is planned contact the London Fire Brigade.
T:  020 8555 1200 (ext: 59163)
A:  Eastern Command, Fire Safety Department

Units 5-6 City Forum
City Road, 
LONDON EC1V 2FB

Petrol Storage11.
To ensure compliance with the Petroleum (Consolidation) Act and for advice on the storage of 
petroleum spirit or petroleum mixture, you should contact the London Fire and Civil Defence 
Authority.
T:  020 8555 1200 (ext: 59163)
A:  Eastern Command, Fire Safety Department

Page 27



Units 5-6 City Forum
City Road, 
LONDON EC1V 2FB

Page 28



P-DEC-AP1

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Note Accompanying Planning Permission

Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 1.
amended), a development which has been granted planning permission becomes a CIL chargeable development if it 
proposes one or more new dwellings, or more than 100sqm of new build floorspace.

Islington Council is the CIL Collecting Authority for developments in Islington and collects both the London Borough 2.
of Islington CIL and the Mayor of London’s CIL, which goes towards funding Crossrail.

The Council will use the CIL Additional Information form submitted with the planning application, alongside other 3.
application documents, to determine whether the application is CIL chargeable and to calculate the CIL charge. 

If your application is deemed to be CIL liable, the charges will be calculated in accordance with the Community 4.
Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended) and the applicable CIL rates from the Islington CIL Charging Schedule and 
the Mayor of London’s CIL Charging Schedule. 

The CIL is charged in pounds per square metre and is calculated by multiplying the applicable CIL rate by the 5.
proposed gross internal area (GIA) proposed by the development. The floorspace of existing buildings to be retained or 
demolished as part of the development will be deducted from the CIL chargeable area if part of the existing building has 
been in its lawful use for at least six months in the three years prior to permission being granted.

After permission is granted, the Council will issue a CIL Liability Notice if CIL liability has been triggered, which will 6.
set out the combined Islington CIL and Mayor of London CIL charge payable on commencement of the development. The 
CIL charge will also be registered as a Local Land Charge against the relevant land.

One (or more) of the development parties must assume liability to pay CIL for a CIL chargeable development 7.
by submitting an Assumption of Liability Notice. In the absence of this form, liability will default to site owner(s).

A development may be eligible for relief or exemption from CIL if it includes affordable housing, is owned by a 8.
charity and will be used wholly or mainly for charitable purposes, or is a self-build project. Relief or exemption must be 
claimed prior to commencement by submitting the appropriate claim form. Further information can be found on the 
GOV.UK website at www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy#relief-and-exemptions. 

Islington Council and the Mayor of London do not have a policy for granting discretionary charitable relief or 9.
exceptional circumstances relief and will not accept claims made on this basis.  

You must inform the Council when the development is going to start by submitting a Commencement Notice10.

Once the Council has been notified that development works have commenced, a CIL Demand Notice will be issued 11.
setting out the total amount payable, how to pay, and when payment is due.

Failure to submit a valid Assumption of Liability Notice and Commencement Notice prior to commencement of the 12.
development may result in surcharges being imposed, and you will not benefit from the 60 day payment window. 

Late payment interest and surcharges will be imposed if payment is not received by the due date.13.

Continued failure to pay CIL liabilities due will result in the Council initiating enforcement action, including serving a 14.
CIL stop notice prohibiting further development on the site, and applying to a magistrates’ court for a Liability Order to 
recover the debt through the seizure of assets.

Further information on CIL and all CIL forms are available on the Islington website at www.islington.gov.uk/cil, and the Planning 
Portal website at https://www.planningportal.co.uk/cil. Guidance on the Community Infrastructure Levy can be found on 
the GOV.UK website at www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy.

Page 29



APPLICANT’S RIGHTS FOLLOWING THE 

GRANT OR REFUSAL OF PERMISSION

For 
furt
her 
info

rmation on CIL please contact the Developer Contributions Team at cil@islington.gov.uk.

Appeals to the Secretary of State1.
Should you (an applicant/agent) feel aggrieved by the decision of the council to either refuse 
permission or to grant permission subject to conditions, you can appeal to the Secretary of State 
for the Department of Communities and Local Government – Section 78 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 / Sections 20 and 21 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990.  Any such appeal must be made within the relevant timescale for the application types 
noted below, beginning from the date of the decision notice (unless an extended period has been 
agreed in writing with the council): 

Six months: Full (excluding Householder and Minor Commercial applications), listed building, §
conservation area consent, Section 73 ‘variation/removal’, Section 73 ‘minor-material 
amendment’, extension of time, and prior approval applications.
12 weeks: Householder planning, Householder prior approval and Minor Commercial§
applications.
8 weeks: Advertisement consent applications.§
No timescale: Certificate of lawful development (existing/proposed) applications.§

Where an enforcement notice has been issued the appeal period may be significantly reduced, 
subject to the following criteria:

The development proposed by your application is the same or substantially the same as §
development that is currently the subject of an enforcement notice: 28 days of the date of 
the application decision.
An enforcement notice is served after the decision on your application relating to the §
same or substantially the same land and development as in your application and if you want to 
appeal against the council’s decision you are advised to appeal against the Enforcement 
Notice and to do so before the Effective Date stated on the Enforcement Notice.. 

Appeals must be made using the prescribed form(s) of The Planning Inspectorate (PINS) 
obtained from www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk or by contacting 03034445000.  A copy of any 
appeal should be sent both to PINS and the council (attn: Planning Appeals Officer).  

The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal, but will not 
normally be prepared to use this power unless there are exceptional/special circumstances.   The 
Secretary of State can refuse to consider an appeal if the council could not have granted planning 
permission for the proposed development or could not have granted it without the conditions it 
imposed, having regard to the statutory requirements and provisions of the Development Order 
and to any direction given under the Order.  In practice, it is uncommon for the Secretary of State 
to refuse to consider appeals solely because the council based its decision on a ‘direction given 
by the Secretary of State’.

Subsequent Application Fees2.
No planning fee would be payable should a revised application be submitted within 12 months of 
the decision.  This ‘fee waiver’ is permitted only where the new application meets the following 
criteria:

the applicant is the same as the applicant of the original application§
site boundary is the same as the site boundary of the original application§
the nature of development remains the same.§

Page 30



P-DEC-AP1

Purchase Notices3.
Should either the council or the Secretary of State refuse permission or to grant permission 
subject to conditions, the owner may claim that the land cannot be put to a reasonably beneficial 
use in its existing state nor through carrying out of any development which has been or could be 
permitted.  In such a case, the owner may serve a purchase notice on the council.  This notice 
will require the council to purchase the owner’s interest in the land in accordance with the 
provisions of Part IV of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 32 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Compensation4.
In certain circumstances compensation may be claimed from the council if permission is 
refused or granted subject to condition(s) by the Secretary of State on appeal or on reference 
to the Secretary of State.  These circumstances are set our in Section 114 and related 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 27 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

General Information5.
A planning permission does not constitute a listed building consent.  Listed building consent is 
required before any works of development or alteration (internal or external) are undertaken to 
a building included on the Statutory List of Buildings of Architectural or Historic Interest.  

The grant of a permission does not relieve the applicant/developer of the necessity of 
complying with any local Acts, Regulations, Building By-laws, private legislation, and general 
statutory provisions in force in the area or modify or affect any personal or restrictive 
covenants, easements etc., applying to or affecting either the land to which the permission 
relates or any other land or the rights or any person(s) or authority(s) entitled to benefit thereof 
or holding an interest in the property.

A development for which permission is granted require new rights over other people’s land such 
as: rights to receive light and air, rights of way, access, freeholder consent, party wall award.  In 
such situations it is appropriate to seek professional advice – please be aware that as such 
matters relate are private law matters, the council cannot advise you.  If planning permission is 
given in respect of land adjoining land belonging to the council or another public authority, you 
are advised to consult that authority in its capacity as landowner about your proposals.  
Examples of land belonging to the council include: Public Parks, Gardens, Housing Estates, 
Estate Roads and Public Buildings such as Council Offices, Libraries and Swimming Pools. 

If you require further advice please visits our website at www.islington.gov.uk or 6.
contact the Planning Enquiries team on 020 7527 2000.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



         

 

 

www.islington.gov.uk 
 

 

Resident Impact Assessment 

 

Wedmore Estate 
 

Service Area: Housing New Build 

 

 

 

 

1. Intended outcomes 

 

This assessment is not related to a policy, strategy or plan. It is in relation to the proposed 

implementation of a planning permission for the Wedmore Estate Scheme P2017/4763/FUL: 

Construct of 19 new dwelling units (100% social rent) on the Wedmore Estate Site and is part of 

Islington’s New Homes Programme. 

 

Background: 

 

The Wedmore Estate Scheme will provide 19 new residential homes (3 x 1B2P flats, 9 x 2B4P 

flats, and 7 x 3B5P flats Including 2 wheelchair units). All properties will be for social rent. In 

addition, the scheme will include improvements to the public realm. 

 

The planning committee resolved on 23 April 2018 to grant planning permission for the 

development being ref: P2017/4763/FUL with a letter of undertaking by the Director of Housing 

in the form of a section 106 agreement. The description, reason and manner of this dependency 

is explained below. 

 

We have already consulted local residents, local ward councillors, the council’s planning, refuse, 

estate services, and energy and housing allocation departments. Other department also 

consulted was the Metropolitan Police Secured by design officers to deliver the best possible 

outcomes. 

 

Page 33

http://www.islington.gov.uk/


The appointed architects together with the design consultants have designed a scheme 

occupied by the existing car parking and children’s play area to provide 19 new dwellings with a 

mix of 1, 2 and 3 bed energy efficient homes and upgraded landscaping across the entire estate. 

  

 

2. Resident Profile 
The residents of the Wedmore Estate and Wedmore Street will be impacted following 
the construction of the new development with noise, dust and traffic. No residents will 
be required to move from their homes. There will be no loss of car parking spaces on 
the estate as new spaces will be provided on other parts of the estate. Traffic calming 
measures will make the estate safer and new landscaping will increase biodiversity 
and improve amenity space across the estate. 

 

 

  Borough profile Service User profile 

  Total: 206,285 Total: 223 

Gender Female 51% 53% 

Male 49% 47% 

Age Under 16 32,825 46 

16-24 29,418 19 

25-44 87,177 76 

45-64 38,669 47 

65+ 18,036 35 

Disability Disabled 16% Not declared 

Non-disabled 84% Not declared 

Sexual 
orientation 

LGBT No data Not declared 

Heterosexual/straight No data Not declared 

Race BME 52% Not declared 

White 48% Not declared 

Religion or 
belief 

Christian 40% Not declared 

Muslim 10% Not declared 

Other 4.5% Not declared 

No religion 30% Not declared 

 Religion not stated 17% Not declared 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



3. Equality impacts 
There are no changes that have been identified that will be discriminatory towards the people 
that live on the estate and this scheme seeks to provide housing for one or more of those with 
protected characteristics, namely people with disabilities, families with children and older 
people. 
 

These new homes will be allocated via the Council’s Local Lettings Strategy to council residents 

living on the estate of which some would have had one or more of the protected characteristics. 

The new homes will be fully accessible on the ground floor. The new homes are also connected 

to a communal heating plant and fully insulated reducing heating bills. The new homes are also 

linked to an entryphone system improving security to their homes. 

 

Like any new development, construction will result in noise, dust and inconvenience to residents 

adjacent to the construction site. For the Wedmore Estate site, we have identified residents in 

the immediate facility on which the building works will impact and we will continue to discuss this 

element with them. 

 

The construction of the new residential block will also impact on Rights to Light to neighbouring 

properties surrounding the development. The council has commissioned a Right to Light survey 

which identified two properties being affected. The council’s Right to Light surveyors are in 

advanced negotiations to agree compensation for the two properties. 

 

The contractor will also be required to sign to the Considerate Contractor Scheme to work with 

the Council and residents to minimise any inconvenience to neighbouring residents. The 

contractor will also be asked to provide regular newsletters so that the residents affected are 

kept up to date with the progress of the new development. 

 

To mitigate against loss of parking during the construction period, temporary to permanent 

parking will be provided for residents with allocated parking on the estate. 

 

The council has engaged with the Tenant and Resident Association (TRA) at meetings and 

through resident consultation drop-in events. As part of the consultation residents have attended 

drop in events and completed questionnaires. Resident’s comments have influenced the design 

and wherever possible we have incorporated resident’s suggestions. Residents beyond the 

Wedmore Estate have also attend consultation events. The newly designed play areas allowing 

the communities on the estate to interact and develop community cohesion. Throughout the 

consultation and design process the design team have met with key stakeholders including the 

Police and key council departments to develop the scheme to address anti-social behaviour. The 

council will continue to engage with the TRA and residents through the design and construction 

stages to foster stronger relationships. 

 

Islington’s vision for housing as laid down in the Housing Strategy 2014 – 2019 is to make sure 

everyone in Islington has a place to live that is affordable, decent and secure. Secure and 

affordable housing is recognised as an enabler. Housing has an important role in shaping 

healthy places, preventing ill health, supporting residents into work and tackling child poverty. 

The council has a corporate objective to deliver 550 new council homes by 2022. The delivery of 

Wedmore Estate scheme is part of Islington’s Corporate objective to deliver New Homes. 

 

The Council will be able to achieve a significant amount of social benefit and value through this 

procurement. Social value will be included as an award criterion within the tender process in 

Page 35



order to derive the maximum social benefit from the contract and the supply chain. As part of the 

evaluation process bidders will be asked to include a proposal regarding the social value they 

can achieve. The social evaluation will require bidders to consider their economic, environmental 

and social plans for delivery. 

 

The Council is committed to supporting residents into employment, especially those who are 

disadvantaged in the labour market. Increased training apprenticeship and employment 

outcomes have been achieved by building in these requirements at the commencement of the 

procurement process. The contractor is committed to meeting the Council’s requirement of 1:20 

where 1 fulltime apprenticeship will be provided for every 20 homes built. 

 

There will be opportunities for sustained employment for local unemployed people facilitated 

through the new development with the requirement for all contractors to pay the LLW. 

 

 

4. Safeguarding and Human Rights impacts 
      There is no anticipated risk of Human Rights breaches linked to the delivery of this scheme.  

 

 

 

 

 

5.   Action 
   

Action Responsible person or 
team 

Deadline 

Appoint contractor with a requirement to adhere 
to Considerate Contractor scheme’s rules 

New Build team Ongoing 

Agree compensation with residents whose 
properties will be affected by loss of light 

Council’s appointed 
surveyors 

Ongoing 

Allocation of parking Area Housing Office, 
Customer Services 

Ongoing 

Allocation of housing through the Local Lettings 
policy 

Lettings team Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



This Resident Impact Assessment has been completed in accordance with the 
guidance and using appropriate evidence. 

Staff member completing this form:  Head of Service or higher: 

Signed: 
 

 

Signed: 
 

Date: 22/05/2019  Date: 22/05/2019 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



2 | P a g e

Finance Department, N7 7EP

Report of: Executive Member for Finance, Performance & Community Safety 
 and the Executive Member for Housing and Development

Delete as
appropriate

Non-exempt

Downsizers Dual Charge Relief (for Council Tax payers)

1. Synopsis

1.1 This is a relief from ‘double’ council tax charges designed for any tenants who are 
under-occupying their home moving from a larger property over which LBI has 
nomination rights to a smaller property over which LBI has nomination rights 
freeing up their original accommodation for allocation to larger families. 

1.2 There are periods where a “Downsizer” (an under-occupier) can become liable for 
council tax at their original address and their new address at the same time.  This 
situation is often referred to as a period of overlapping tenancies and it creates an 
additional financial burden for the Downsizer.

1.3 ‘Downsizing’ allows the council to make the best use of its housing stock and 
properties for which the council has nomination rights and in particular, releases 
scarce social housing for allocation to families.  For this reason, we do not want 
potential downsizers discouraged from moving because they would have extra 
council tax to pay.

Meeting of Date Ward

Executive 11 July 2019 All

Page 39

Agenda Item 2



3 | P a g e

2. Recommendations

2.1 To create a class of council tax charge payers for the purposes of awarding an 
exemption to their council tax to be known as “Downsizers”. 

2.2 To define a Downsizer as a tenant who was living in a larger property over which 
LBI has nomination rights who has completed an under-occupation transfer to a 
smaller property over which LBI has nomination rights.

2.3 To agree that this class of charge payers will be awarded a local council tax relief, 
by way of a discount, if during the transition from the larger to the smaller property 
the Downsizer becomes liable for council tax at both properties for an overlapping 
period.  The discount will be applied in a way that will reduce the Downsizer’s 
council tax bill on any unoccupied property during the overlap to nil. 

2.3 To agree that this class of reduction will be applied in accordance with the 
Downsizers Dual Charge Relief Scheme which is contained in Appendix 1 of this 
report. 

2.5 To agree that Downsizers Dual Charge Relief will be available from the date the 
scheme is agreed and can be applied to any qualifying period from the 2019/20 
financial year onwards.

3 Background 

3.1 There is a housing crisis in London and it may not be solved by building more 
homes alone. A complimentary solution is to make better use of our existing 
housing stock. By improving mobility within our housing stock we can increase 
the number of new social housing lets at a fraction of the cost of building new 
homes.   

3.2 Reducing any under-occupation is a cost effective way of improving this mobility. 
If more tenants living in large homes downsized to smaller ones, then more 
families in overcrowded homes could move, and more homeless families or 
households on waiting lists could be housed. 

3.3 Under-occupation arises where a household lives in a property that has more 
bedrooms than the household’s assessed needs. Typical causes of under-
occupation are older tenants/couples remaining in their home after their children 
have grown up and left and family breakdown.

3.4 On 1st April 2019, there were 4,779 families waiting for a home on Islington’s 
Housing Register. In 2017/18 only 494 family sized homes were let, for 2018/19 
the estimate is that only circa 600 family homes were available for allocation.

Page 40



4 | P a g e

3.5 Moving costs and additional charges such as additional council tax in this case 
create a disincentive to downsizing by creating additional debt for the downsizing 
tenant to cope with.

3.6 Our proposed Downsizers Dual Charge Relief removes the additional charges 
caused by the double taxation of council tax if during their transition from the 
larger to the smaller home a tenant becomes liable for council tax at both 
properties at the same time.

4 Implications 

4.1  Financial Implications
There are financial implications of awarding any new council tax relief, as it 
reduces the total amount of council tax income collected in the Collection Fund. 
The cost of any such relief is shared between the Council and the GLA in 
proportion to their share of the total annual council tax (78:22 split in 2019/20).

4.1.2 The number of Downsizers in any given financial year will fluctuate, so the cost of 
this proposed new relief cannot be determined precisely. An estimate of the cost 
of providing this relief to tenants moving from and to properties over which LBI 
has nomination rights is shown below.

 The number of Downsizers in 2017/18 and 2018/19 were 145 and 161 
respectively, giving an annual average of 153. 

 The annual council tax charge (including GLA precept) for an average band D 
property in 2019/20 is £1,489.67 so the daily charge is approximately £4.08. 

 The typical transition period from the larger to smaller property is less than 4 
weeks (28 days). 

 Using this information (153 Downsizers for a transition period of 28 days) the 
estimated annual cost of this proposed new relief in 2019-20 would be c£17k, of 
which the Council share would be c£13k and the GLA’s share would be c£4k. 

 This estimated annual cost would increase in future financial years in proportion to 
any increase in the level of council tax.

4.2 Legal Implications 

4.2.1 The recommendation for Downsizer relief is lawful. It is within the Council’s powers to 
adopt this relief (section 13A (1)(c) Local Government Finance Act 1992). It is being done 
for a proper purpose and is rational: there is a need to free up the Council’s housing 
stock and this proposal removes a potential disincentive to downsizing, and does so 
without creating a significant burden on the council tax budget. It is not in breach of the 
fiduciary duty to council taxpayers.

4.3      Environmental Implications
Environmental implications do not apply.

Page 41



5 | P a g e

4.4 Resident Impact Assessment:

4.4.1 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of 
opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 
2010). The Council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or 
minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in 
public life. The Council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and 
promote understanding.  

4.4.2 A person with any of the protected characteristics may find themselves living in 
accommodation that is larger than their needs.  Unfortunately, there is no national 
or local research that profiles the characteristics of Downsizers specifically.  
Instead for the resident impact assessment we have used equalities statistics for 
council tenants and households available in respect of 2016/17 as indicators for 
the probable characteristics of Downsizers.

4.4.3 The resident impact assessment can be seen in Appendix 2

4.4.4 In the resident impact assessment we have considered whether the relief 
proposed impacts on equality matters and concluded there are no significant 
equality concerns. The Downsizers Dual Charge Relief Scheme will remove a 
disincentive in promoting the benefits of being a Downsizer in Islington and does 
not exclude anyone on the basis of any of the equality groups.  So there are no 
any negative equality impacts for any protected characteristic or any human rights 
or safeguarding risks.   

5 Reason for recommendations

5.1 By introducing the Downsizers Dual Charge Relief scheme the Council is 
supporting Downsizers within its area by removing a financial obstacle to their 
moving to smaller accommodation and releasing their original accommodation to 
house families on the Housing Register. 

5.2 The Council is empowered to determine the eligibility criteria for this relief.
        
5.3 In order to adopt the Downsizers Dual Charge Relief scheme, the Council is 

recommended to create a class of charge payer that describes the eligibility 
criteria and decide in each individual case whether to grant Downsizers Dual 
Charge Relief.

Appendices
 Appendix 1: Downsizers Dual Charge Relief Scheme Guidance
 Appendix 2: Resident Impact Assessment

Page 42



6 | P a g e

 Appendix 3: Council Tenant Equalities Data 2016/2017

Final Report Clearance

Signed by:

Councillor Andy Hull
Executive Member for Finance, 
Performance & Community Safety

Councillor Diarmaid Ward
Executive Member for Housing and 
Development

Date: 1 July 2019 1 July 2019

Report Author: Andrew Spigarolo
Tel: 020 7527 4655
Email: andrew.spigarolo@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications Author: Martin Houston
Tel:                                            020 7527 1852
Email:                                            Martin.Houston@islington.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author: Peter Fehler
Tel:                                            020 7527 3126
Email:                                            Peter.Fehler@islington.gov.uk

Page 43



6 | P a g e

Appendix 1: Downsizers Dual Charge Relief 
Scheme Guidance

London Borough of 
Islington
Downsizers Dual Charge 

Relief Scheme

Page 44



7 | P a g e

Policy and guidance for determining Downsizers Dual 
Charge Relief.
1.0 Scheme summary

This scheme provides relief from ‘double’ council tax for under-occupiers who move to 
smaller properties freeing up their original accommodation for allocation to larger families. 

Relief is to be provided for those periods where a Downsizer (an under-occupier) becomes 
liable for council tax at their original address and the new address at the same time.  This 
period is often referred to as a period of overlapping tenancies and it creates an additional 
tax burden for the Downsizer.

‘Downsizing’ allows the council to make the best use of its housing stock and in particular, 
releases scare social housing for allocation to families.  For this reason, we do not want 
potential Downsizers being discouraged from moving because they would have extra 
council tax to pay.

Using Section 13A (1-3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 the council has created 
a class of council tax charge payers for the purposes of awarding an exemption to their 
council tax known as “Downsizers”.

A Downsizer is a tenant who was living in a larger property over which LBI has nomination 
rights who has completed an under-occupation transfer to a smaller property over which LBI 
has nomination rights.

With the tenant’s consent, Islington’s Housing Options Team will make the identity of a 
downsizer known to the Revenues Service as and when an under-occupation transfer is 
completed.

The effect of this scheme is that Downsizers will be awarded a local council tax discount, if 
during the transition from the larger property to the smaller property the Downsizer 
becomes liable for council tax at both properties for an overlapping period.  The discount 
will be applied in a way that will reduce the Downsizers council tax bill on any unoccupied 
property to nil.

Reducing Council Tax in these circumstances will hereafter be known as an award of 
Downsizers Dual Charge Relief.

Downsizers Dual Charge Relief is available for any qualifying period from the 1st April
2019 financial year onwards subject to the statutory limits limiting the length of time 
discretionary relief can be backdated. Currently a decision on discretionary relief must be 
made by 30th September if it is to be applied in the preceding financial year.

2.0 Background

2.1 There is a housing crisis in London and it may not be solved by building more homes 
alone. A complimentary solution is to make better use of our existing stock. By 
improving mobility within our housing stock we can increase the number of new 
social housing lets at a fraction of the cost of building new homes.   

Page 45



8 | P a g e

2.2 As a result the council recognises that reducing any under-occupation is a cost 
effective way of improving this mobility. If more tenants living in large homes 
downsized to smaller ones, then more families in overcrowded homes could move, 
and more homeless families or households on waiting lists could be housed. 

2.3 Under-occupation arises where a household lives in a property that has more 
bedrooms than the household’s assessed needs. Typical causes of under-
occupation are older tenants/couples remaining in their home after their children 
have grown up and left and family breakdown.

2.4 On 1st April 2019, there were 4,779 families waiting for a home on Islington’s 
Housing Register. In 2017/2018 only 494 family homes were available for allocation, 
there were in the region of 600 family homes available for allocation in 2018/19.

2.5 Moving costs and additional charges create a disincentive to downsizing by creating 
additional debt for the tenant to cope with.

2.6 Downsizers Dual Charge Relief removes the additional charges caused by the 
double taxation of council tax if during their transition from the larger to the smaller 
home a tenant becomes liable for council tax at both properties at the same time.

2.7 By avoiding the need for a new build or for paying for temporary accommodation the 
savings generated by way of under-occupancy transfers are expected to be many-
fold times the cost of providing Downsizers Dual Charge Relief.

3.0 Legislative gateway

3.1 Under Section 13A(1-3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended), the 
Council has the power to reduce liability for Council Tax in relation to individual cases or 
class(es) of cases that it may determine. It says: 

1. Where a person is liable to pay council tax in respect of any chargeable dwelling and 
day, the billing authority for the area in which the dwelling is situated may reduce the 
amount which he is liable to pay as respects the dwelling and the day to such extent as 
it thinks fit. This allows for a further reduction where a reduction under council tax 
support has been applied 

2. The power under subsection 1) above includes the power to reduce an amount to nil 

3. The power under subsection 1) may be exercised in relation to particular cases or by 
determining a class of case in which liability is to be reduced to an extent provided by 
the determination. 

3.2 There are financial implications to awarding any discounts other than those currently 
available under the statutory legislation and the financial burden of Section 13A discounts 
has to be met through an increase in the general level of Council Tax for other payers or 
from the general fund. 

3.3 The granting of Section 13A discounts would reduce income from Council Tax; 
 
3.4 In order to remove a disincentive for potential Downsizers to move. The Council has 
created a new class of council tax charge payer known as ‘Downsizers” and has decided to 
reduce the council tax bill for Downsizers dual council tax charge to zero.

Page 46



9 | P a g e

3.5 The Council’s finances will allow for the reduction to be made.

4.0 Downsizers Dual Charge Relief (DDCR) application process 

4.1 As and when an under-occupation transfer is completed, with the tenant’s consent 
the Housing Options team will contact the Revenues service, confirming the tenant’s details 
including their tenancy end date at the original property and the tenancy start date of their 
new property.

4.2 The council tax service will review the Downsizer’s old and new tenancy details in 
order to identify

a)  if there is an overlapping tenancy
b)  in the case of an overlapping tenancy which dates during the overlap 

i) the tenant DID NOT occupy the original property
ii) the tenant DID NOT occupy the new property

c)  and apply DDCR to these properties in respect of any dates they were not being 
occupied.

For the avoidance of doubt, no DDCR is applied to any property or home on dates that the 
same home was being occupied or lived in.  

Page 47



10 | P a g e

Appendix 2: Resident impact assessment of 
Islington Downsizers Dual Charge Relief scheme 

Social Housing in Islington

Ensuring people can access decent, suitable housing is a key priority for Islington Council. The Council 
also has a legal obligation to ensure certain groups are housed. 

Social housing is a primary tool for tackling this issue. It provides accommodation to roughly 44% of 
Islington residents at below market rates. Demand for social housing in Islington far exceeds supply with 
more than 18,000 applications on the Housing Register and approximately only 1,000 properties to let each 
year. 

In cases where the Council has a legal obligation to house someone but is unable to do so immediately it 
will use temporary accommodation. Temporary accommodation is costly for the council, and represents 
greater instability for the housed family or individual.

Although Islington Council is responsible for administering the allocation of housing, it is constrained in 
choosing who is allocated housing by a number of factors. These include:

 Limited supply: Although Islington administers more than 25,000 properties, fewer than 1,000 
become available to let each year. 

 Type of property: People can only be allocated a property where it is suitable for their needs. 
Almost half of all properties let annually are 1 bedroom which are unsuitable for families.

 High demand: There are more than 18,000 applications currently on the Housing Register. The 
majority of these applications are made by people experiencing one form of housing need such as 
overcrowding, insanitary conditions or homelessness. Many of these applicants also have children.

Islington Council has created the Downsizers Dual Charge Relief in the context of these limitations in order 
to remove the disincentive to downsize in overlapping tenancy scenarios and in recognition that downsizing 
liberates accommodation that is more suitable for others who need it.

The equalities impacts of the Downsizers Dual Charge Relief Scheme 

The protected characteristics which need to be considered are age, disability, gender, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief and sexual orientation. The duty to have 
due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination also covers marriage and civil partnerships. Paying due 
regard requires a proper assessment of likely impacts based on available data.

There is no data available for Downsizers specifically so we are using data about Islington’s council tenants 
generally as our guide.  Once a Downsizer has released their larger property for a housing allocation, this 
benefits people on the Housing Register or those in temporary accommodation and so we will also use the 
equalities data available for their protected characteristics.

The scheme does not explicitly discriminate against any of the equality groups – there is no protected 
characteristic group that is singled out and directly prohibited from receipt of the relief.  

Those waiting for a chance of securing housing are primarily allocated housing on the basis of their level of 
need, and should not be affected by their possession of a protected characteristic, unless that characteristic 
determines need as in the case of disability. 

Page 48



11 | P a g e

There are no major equalities concerns about current housing allocations in Islington. Analysis, supported 
by the data in Appendix 3, shows that women, BME groups, disabled people and the elderly are 
disproportionately represented in social housing in Islington, compared to the population as a whole. 
Because equalities groups experience a disproportionately high level of need (eg, BME people are more 
likely to experience deprivation, women are more likely to be lone parents etc) and the housing allocation 
system awards points on the basis of need, the fact that they are more likely to get housing is to be 
expected.

Page 49



12 | P a g e

Appendix 3: Equalities data 2016/17
SOCIAL HOUSING IN ISLINGTON BREAKDOWN

This section provides a brief summary of Islington social housing stock and who lives in it. The 
section also provides a breakdown of the Housing Register and recent allocations. Islington 
Council administers roughly 25,000 rented social housing properties in Islington. Of these 
roughly:

 40% are 1 bedroom or bedsit properties
 35% are 2 bedroom properties
 20% are 3 bedroom properties
 5% are 4 bedroom properties
 1% are 5+ bedroom properties

40%

35%

20%

5% 1%

1 bedroom or bedsit properties
2 bedroom properties
3 bedroom properties
4 bedroom properties
5+ bedroom properties

Rented social housing properties in Islington

Of the tenants living in these properties:

 42.6% are estimated to be BAME
 42.5% have defined themselves as having an impairment
 60% of households are headed by a woman
 23.7% are over 65

Of the applicants on Islington’s Housing Register:

 50 % are estimated to be BAME 
 25.7 % who have declared their disability status have registered an impairment 
 57 % are registered as female 
 7.6 % are registered as aged over 65 

Of the homeless households in temporary accommodation

 63% are estimated to be BAME
 70.5% are registered as female
 22% who have declared their disability status have registered an impairment
 1% are registered as aged over 65

Page 50



13 | P a g e

Social housing in Islington 2016/17 profiled against the protected 
characteristics where data is available.

Borough 
profile

Housing 
register

Homeless 
households 
in 
temporary 

Council 
tenants

Allocations made 
to council property
in 2016/17

Total:206,285 18,033 680 24,833 892
Gender female 51% 57% 70.5% 60% 64%

male 49% 43% 29.5% 39.9% 35%
age Under 16 - - - - -

16-24 17% 13.4% 19% 3.3% 16%
25-44 50% 52.8% 62% 32.5% 56%
45-64 22% 26.2% 17% 40.5% 24%
65+ 10% 7.6% 1% 23.7% 4%

Disability disabled 16% 25.7% 22% 42.5% 27%
Non disabled 84% 74.3% 78% 57.5% 73%

Sexual 
orientation

LGBT No data 10.3% 10% 3.6% 4.5%

Heterosexual No data 89.7% 90% 96.4% 95.5%
Race BAME 52% 50% 63% 42.6% 54%

Non BAME 48% 50% 37% 57.2% 46%
Religion/belief Christian 40% 50.3% 49% 58.9% 45%

Muslim 10% 22.5% 18% 16.9% 26%
Other 4.5% 5.4% 6% 4.6% 4%
No religion/not 
stated

47% 21.8% 26% 19.6% 25%

 

               

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment and Regeneration 
Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD

Report of: Executive Member for Environment and Transport

Meeting of: Date: Ward(s):

Executive 11 July 2019 All

Delete as appropriate Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Procurement Strategy for Automotive Fuel

1. Synopsis

1.1 This report seeks pre-tender approval for the procurement strategy in respect of Automotive 
Fuel in accordance with Rule 2.7 of the Council’s Procurement Rules.

1.2 This procurement strategy covers the supply needs for automotive fuels to operate Islington 
Council’s fleet of vehicles.

2. Recommendations

2.1 To approve the procurement strategy for Automotive Fuel as outlined in this report.  

2.2 To delegate authority to award the supply of automotive fuels contract/s to the Corporate 
Director of Environment and Regeneration in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Environment and Transport, for a duration of 30 months commencing 1 October 2019 until 31 
March 2022.

2.3 To note that the Executive be provided with an annual update on the progress being made to 
move the Council’s fleet away from diesels and petrol to electric and renewables.

3. Background

3.1 The Council operates a fleet of around 500 vehicles. Diesel and unleaded petrol are purchased 
in bulk, delivered to the Cottage Road depot by road tankers, and distributed via the pumps 

Page 53

Agenda Item C1



located on the depot fuel island. The fuel is required to provide services across most 
departments.  

The currents contracts were procured via a competition using the Crown Commercial Services 
(CCS) framework and expire on 30 September 2019. The present arrangements of access to 
the CCS framework for procuring fuel are considered to remain the most efficient and 
economical procurement route, and it is recommended that this arrangement is continued. This 
will take advantage of the bulk purchasing discounts.

The new further competition will cover the period 1 October 2019 until 31 March 2022 

The price paid in pence per litre for delivered fuel is made up of the commodity price of the 
fuel, duty, supplier margin and a management charge. As the commodity price is set and 
dictated by the commodity markets, the tender exercise via the CCS framework will give the 
Council an opportunity to market test existing supplier margin and management charge.

Awarding the contracts for the supply of automotive fuels for the Council fleet will support 
delivery of services essential to all residents such as waste collection, street cleaning, and 
highways maintenance, as well as services to our more vulnerable residents through housing 
repairs, and community transport.

To support the drive towards greener methods of powering our fleet, fuel usage will start to 
reduce during the period covered by this strategy as traditionally fuelled vehicles are replaced 
with electric vehicles. An annual update on the progress being made to move the Council’s 
fleet away from diesels and petrol to electric and renewables will be provided to the Executive.

Efficient fuel usage will be supported through management data that will give the Council the 
means to monitor fuel consumption and introduce continuous measures to reduce the amount 
of fuel we use to avoid cost and reduce carbon and other emissions.

3.2 The arrangement will be funded from existing revenue budgets, with an estimated annual 
value of £1,000,000. The estimated value of the procurement is therefore up to approximately 
£2.5m over 30 months with the volume of automotive fuel consumed will expected to reduce 
over time as the fleet moves to electric power.

3.3 This procurement needs to align with the expiry of the current fuel procurement strategy.  The 
current arrangement through the CCS framework ends on 30 September 2019 and the new 
contract will run from 1 October 2019 for 30 months.

3.4 The option of undertaking our own procurement via OJEU was discounted as there are no 
tangible benefits in doing this, commercially or financially. Procuring on our own would also 
mean that we would not benefit from the collaborative buying power and strict terms imposed 
on the suppliers via an established framework set up by a central purchasing body. Other 
benefits of continuing to procure through the CCS framework also include clear and 
transparent pricing, potential benefits through early payment options and comprehensive 
management information including service levels and key performance indicators.

3.5 The London Living Wage will be paid to all delivery and support staff that will be associated 
with the delivery of automotive fuel for Islington’s fleet.

There are no TUPE, Pensions or Staff implications associated to this procurement.

Page 54



3.6 Call-offs and further competitions will be carried out in line with the terms of the CCS Liquid 
Fuels framework agreement. Contracts will be awarded based on 100% cost.

The supply of liquid fuels will be procured by CCS on behalf of the Council against CCS 
standard terms and conditions of the call-off agreement. The Council will provide details to CCS 
of our site/supply requirements, this is then sent to all framework providers by CCS for pricing. 

The price evaluation is undertaken by CCS and then verified by the Council. Once pricing is 
agreed CCS will then seek the Council’s agreement to award a call-off contract on Islington’s 
behalf to the successful supplier/s.

3.7 Risk of fluctuating costs in excess of market rates/caps will be mitigated through greater price 
certainty on supplier margin and management charge, and by guaranteed pricing on the 
framework.

By using a pre-existing OJEU compliant framework agreement, the Council is reducing any risk 
of direct challenge in regards to the procurement process undertaken to deliver the supply.
 

3.8 It is further recommended that Executive delegate authority to award the contracts for the 
supply of automotive fuels to the Corporate Director of Environment and Regeneration in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Environment and Transport, for a duration of 30 
months commencing 1 October 2019 until 31 March 2022.

3.9 The Employment Relations Act 1999 (Blacklist) Regulations 2010 explicitly prohibit the 
compilation, use, sale or supply of blacklists containing details of trade union members and 
their activities.  Following a motion to full Council on 26 March 2013, all tenderers will be 
required to complete an anti-blacklisting declaration.  Where an organisation is unable to 
declare that they have never blacklisted, they will be required to evidence that they have 'self-
cleansed'.  The Council will not award a contract to organisations found guilty of blacklisting 
unless they have demonstrated 'self-cleansing' and taken adequate measures to remedy past 
actions and prevent re-occurrences.  

3.10 The following relevant information is required to be specifically approved by the Executive in 
accordance with rule 2.8 of the Procurement Rules: 

Relevant information Information/section in report

1 Nature of the service Provision of Automotive Fuel for the Council fleet 

See paragraph 3.1
2 Estimated value The estimated value is £1million per year  

The agreement is proposed to run for a period of 30 
months, to a total value of up to £2.5million.

See paragraph 3.2

3 Timetable See paragraph 3.3 for details of timelines required to 
be met.

Page 55



4 Options appraisal for tender 
procedure including consideration of 
collaboration opportunities

See paragraph 3.4 where the preferred option is to 
continue to procure via the CCS framework

5 Consideration of: 
Social benefit clauses; 
London Living Wage; 
Best value; 
TUPE, pensions and other staffing 
implications 

See Paragraph 3.5 for key considerations included 
within the report.

6 Award criteria See Paragraph 3.6 – where it states the method of 
evaluation and the criteria which is 100% cost. 

7 Any business risks associated with 
entering the contract

See paragraph 3.7

8 Any other relevant financial, legal 
or other considerations.

See paragraph 3.8

4. Implications

4.1 Financial implications: 
Council-wide fuel costs for fleet vehicles currently costs around £1million per annum and is 
paid for from existing budgets from within Street Environment Services and other departments. 
Changes to the cost and volume of fuel use is likely to change due to market conditions and as 
the fleet moves to a more electric and more efficient ULEZ compliant vehicles.

4.2 Legal Implications:
The Council has power to purchase automotive fuel for fleet vehicles which are required to 
enable the Council to carry out its statutory functions and contractual repairing obligations in 
respect of its housing stock (section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 together with the 
relevant statutory functions). Accordingly, the Council may enter into a contract with the 
successful supplier(s) to secure the provision of automotive fuel for the fleet vehicles (section 1 
of the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997). 

The proposed contract is a public supply contract. The threshold for application of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) is currently £181,302 for supply contracts. 
Contracts above this threshold must be procured with advertisement in the Official Journal of 
the European Union and with full compliance of the Regulations. The council’s Procurement 
Rules also require contracts over the value of £164,176.00 to be subject to competitive tender. 

The proposed procurement strategy is to use the Crown Commercial Service (CCS) national 
fuel framework for the supply of automotive fuel established by CCS for use by central and 
local government. The CCS framework was procured in compliance with the Public Contracts 
Regulations including an OJEU advertisement. The framework is available to all local authorities 
and therefore may be accessed by the Council for the supply of automotive fuel and a 
contract(s) may be awarded in accordance with the provisions set out in the framework. 

The estimated value of the procurement over 30 months is £2.5m revenue. The Corporate 
Director’s delegated level for contracts funded from revenue is £2m (Procurement Rules para 

Page 56



18.1.1) and therefore delegated authority will be required from the Executive to enable the 
Corporate Director to award a contract for the supply of automotive fuel via a key decision 
report.

4.3 Environmental Implications
The purchase and use of diesel and unleaded petrol will result in local emissions of carbon 
dioxide, NOx and other pollutants, in addition to the impacts caused elsewhere by oil 
extraction, refinement and transportation. However, the increasing number of electric vehicles 
in use in the Council’s fleet will start to gradually reduce the amount of diesel and petrol fuel 
purchased over the duration of the contract. The procurement of fuel from the CCS framework 
also provides the best option for the purchase of conventional diesel and petrol fuel, as it is 
delivered by reputable suppliers with appropriate handling, delivery and fuel quality methods in 
place.
 

4.4 Resident Impact Assessment:
The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and 
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those 
who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The Council has a duty to have due regard 
to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps 
to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public 
life. The Council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote 
understanding. 

An RIA was conducted on this procurement strategy and no adverse impacts were identified. 
All residents will benefit from the efficient procurement of automotive fuel as it will aid the cost 
effective delivery of services across all departments
 

5. Reason for recommendations

5.1 Utilising the Crown Commercial Service National Fuels Framework allows the Council access to 
discounts achieved by combining our requirement with other public sector bodies. The 
framework is comprehensively managed by CCS with KPIs available.

Direct supply arrangements would not provide the same level of discount and would require 
the Council to manage the supplier(s) directly.

Appendices
 Resident Impact Assessment 

Page 57



Final report clearance:

Signed by:

Councillor Claudia Webbe

Executive Member for Environment and 
Transport 

Date  3 July 2019

Report Author:                            Mark Smith
Tel:                            0207 527 2212
Email:                            mark.smith2@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications Author:        Steve Abbott
Tel: 0207 527 2369
Email: steve.abbott@islington.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author:         David Daniels
Tel:         0207 527 3277
Email:         david.daniels@islington.gov.uk

Page 58



www.islington.gov.uk

Resident Impact Assessment

Title of policy, procedure, function, service activity or financial 
decision: Procurement Strategy – Automotive Fuels

Service Area: Environment and Regeneration

1. What are the intended outcomes of this policy, function etc? 

Efficient procurement of quality automotive fuel for the council’s vehicle fleet. 

2. Resident Profile
All residents will benefit financially from the efficient procurement of automotive fuel as it will 
aid the cost effective delivery of services across all departments. 

Whilst the use of diesel and petrol fuel does have a negative impact on air quality for all 
residents, this will be minimised by the Council’s replacement of its aged fleet vehicles and 
transition to electric zero tail pipe emission vehicles, reducing the overall use of automotive fuel 
over time.       

3. Equality impacts

With reference to the guidance, please describe what are the equality and socio-economic 
impacts for residents and what are the opportunities to challenge prejudice or promote 
understanding?

 Is the change likely to be discriminatory in any way for people with any of the 
protected characteristics? No

 Is the proposal likely to have a negative impact on equality of opportunity for people 
with protected characteristics?  Are there any opportunities for advancing equality of 
opportunity for people with protected characteristics? No

Page 59

http://sp.izzi/published/Records/Community%20and%20living/Information/Guidance/2015-2016/(2015-05-18)%20RIA%20Guidance.pdf


2

 Is the proposal likely to have a negative impact on good relations between 
communities with protected characteristics and the rest of the population in 
Islington? Are there any opportunities for fostering good relations? No

 Is the proposal a strategic decision where inequalities associated with socio-
economic disadvantage can be reduced? No

4. Safeguarding and Human Rights impacts

a) Safeguarding risks and Human Rights breaches
Please describe any safeguarding risks for children or vulnerable adults AND any potential 
human rights breaches that may occur as a result of the proposal? Please refer to section 
4.8 of the guidance for more information.

There are no safeguarding risks associated with this procurement.

5. Action

How will you respond to the impacts that you have identified in sections 3 and 4, or address any 
gaps in data or information?
For more information on identifying actions that will limit the negative impact of the policy for 
protected groups see the guidance.

No impacts have been identified in this RIA.

Action Responsible person or 
team 

Deadline

Please send the completed RIA to equalites@islington.gov.uk and also make it publicly 
available online along with the relevant policy or service change.

If potential safeguarding and human rights risks are identified then please contact 
equalities@islington.gov.uk to discuss further: 

This Resident Impact Assessment has been completed in accordance with the 
guidance and using appropriate evidence.

Staff member completing this form: Head of Service or higher:

Signed: ______________________________ Signed: ______________________________

Date: 12/04/2019 Date: Click here to enter a date.

Page 60

http://sp.izzi/published/Records/Community%20and%20living/Information/Guidance/2015-2016/(2015-05-18)%20RIA%20Guidance.pdf
http://sp.izzi/published/Records/Community%20and%20living/Information/Guidance/2015-2016/(2015-05-18)%20RIA%20Guidance.pdf


3
Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Resources Department 
Town Hall, Upper Street

London, N1 2UD

Report of: Chair of Health and Care Scrutiny Committee

Meeting of Date Ward(s)

Executive 11 July 2019 All

Delete as appropriate Non-exempt

Subject: GP Surgeries – Findings of the Health and Care Scrutiny
Committee

1. Synopsis               

1.1 This report requests that the Executive receive the report of the Health and Care Scrutiny 
Committee following the completion of its review of GP Surgeries.  A response to the 
recommendations set out in the report will be considered at a future meeting of the 
Executive.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the report of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee be received.

2.2  That the Executive Member’s response be reported to a future meeting of the Executive, 
including having due regard to any relevant implications of the Health and Care Scrutiny 
Committee’s recommendations. 

3. Background

3.1 The review was held between July 2018 and April 2019. The overall aim of the review was 
to consider the sustainability of general practice and opportunities to support sustainability 
in the context of rising demand, changing patterns of need, and significant population 
growth. 

Page 63

Agenda Item D1



3.2     The objectives of the review included: To examine service developments in place to support 
increased capacity in primary care, including social prescribing and options for increasing 
the number of people, including children, that can benefit from this model, primary care ‘at 
scale’ and integrated care and interfaces with other services.  The key enablers of primary 
care were also examined, including digital and technological advances, planned 
developments in the primary care estate and approaches to both attracting new workforce 
into Islington and supporting the existing workforce.  Contractual approaches to securing 
the required capacity in general practice were also considered.

3.3 In carrying out the review the Committee considered evidence from the Islington GP 
Federation, the Islington/Haringey CCG, North London partners, the primary care workforce 
and Public Health. 

4. Implications

4.1 Financial Implications 

The proposals in the report need to be costed before a response is made by the Executive. 

4.2 Legal Implications

Relevant legal implications will be considered as part of the response to the review. 

4.3 Environmental Implications

There are no environmental implications at this stage. Any environmental implications will 
be identified as part of the Executive Member response. 

4.4 Resident Impact Assessment

The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and 
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have 
due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in 
particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to 
participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice 
and promote understanding.

The Committee has had regard to any equalities implications and resident impacts identified 
by witnesses during the course of the review. Details of any such implications are set out in 
the appended report. A Resident Impact Assessment has not been completed as the 
Executive is only asked to receive the report at this stage. The impact on residents will 
need to be fully considered as part of the Executive response to the review, at which point 
a Resident Impact Assessment will be completed if required.

Page 64



5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

5.1 The Committee’s conclusions are set out in the appended report. Ten recommendations 
have been made in response to the evidence received. The Executive is asked to endorse 
the Committee’s recommendations.   

Appendices:
 GP Surgeries – Report of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee

Background papers: 
 None. 

Final report clearance:

Signed by:
Osh Gantly 18 June 2019

Chair of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee Date

Report author: Peter Moore, Principal Scrutiny Officer 
Tel: 020 7527 3252
E-mail: peter.moore@islington.gov.uk 

Page 65

mailto:peter.moore@islington.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



, 

REPORT OF THE HEALTH AND CARE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

 

                 GP SURGERIES

London Borough of Islington
June 2019

Page 67



1

CHAIR’S FOREWORD

I am pleased to submit the completed GP Surgeries scrutiny report on behalf of the Health 
and Social Care Scrutiny Committee.

In all, the committee has made 10 recommendations and 94 main findings after carefully 
considering a wide range of evidence from a number of specialist witnesses. The 
recommendations and findings are detailed below.

I am grateful to the committee for its work, and to all those who took the time to give 
evidence.

Councillor Osh Gantly
Chair of Health and Care Scrutiny Committee 

Page 68



2

 GP Surgeries - Scrutiny Review

Evidence

The review ran from July 2018 until April 2019, and evidence was received from a variety of 
sources:

1.  Presentations from witnesses – Tony Hoolaghan, Rebecca Kingsnorth, Dr Imogen Bloor – 
Islington CCG, Ian Sandford – Islington Public Health,– Michael Clowes and Dr John 
McGrath – Islington GP Federation, Clare Henderson – Islington & Haringey CCGs, Sarah 
McIlwaine, Programme Director, Health and Care Closer to Home, North London Partners, 
Katherine Gerrans, Primary Care Workforce Programme Lead, North London Partners and 
Islington & Haringey CCGs.

   

      2.    Documentary evidence – NCL Strategy for General Practice

Aim of the Review

To consider the sustainability of general practice and opportunities to support sustainability 
in the context of rising demand, changing patterns of need, and significant population 
growth

Objectives of the Review

To examine service developments in place to support increased capacity in primary care, including

 Social prescribing and options for increasing the number of people, including children, that 
can benefit from this model

 Primary care ‘at scale’
 Integrated care and interfaces with other services

To examine the key enablers of primary care –

 Digital and technological advances
 Planned developments in the primary care estate
 Approaches to both attracting new workforce into Islington and supporting the existing 

workforce

To assess contractual approaches to securing the required capacity in general practice

The detailed Scrutiny Initiation Document (SID) is set out at Appendix A to the report
RECOMMENDATIONS:

That the Executive be recommended  –

1.That given that a number of GP Surgeries are at present in ageing premises, and that GP 
services are provided from a number of different locations, the CCG/Islington GP Federation 

Page 69



3

should work to establish integrated networks of GP surgeries, providing a wider range of 
facilities and services for patients

2.That in relation to recommendation 1 above, the CCG/Islington GP Federation should 
consider, when looking at the development of integrated networks, establishing a closer 
working relationship of GP’s in the borough, the physical expansion of premises where 
feasible, relocation of existing premises to larger sites, and remodelling of premises/sharing 
services to maximise clinical use. This should be done in liaison with the Council Planning 
Department to ensure that where new housing developments are planned in the borough, 
premises are allocated for GP provision, where this is necessary

3.That, due to demographic changes taking place in the borough, there is a need to ensure GP 
surgeries are situated in the right locations, and have the facilities available to cope with an 
ageing population. The CCG should work with the Islington GP Federation/North Central 
London, and the Council Planning Department to ensure that they were aware of local 
housing developments/population trends that may impact on GP services in the borough

4.That due to recruitment/retention problems of GP’s, and the fact that a significant number of 
GP’s in the borough will be retiring in the next 10 years, the work/life attractions of Islington 
as a location be advertised, in order to attract younger GP’s and clinical staff. The 
Committee noted that the high cost of housing / cost of living in London may however, be a 
deterrent to recruitment.

5.  That the Committee noted that many younger GP’s have indicated that they wish to have 
more flexibility and variety in their careers, and younger nurses wish to pursue more career 
development. The Committee are of the view therefore that there should be increased 
development of team working in GP practices, such as the recruitment of advanced care 
practitioners, pharmacists, physician associates, based in practices, and there should be 
more of a focus on provision of care as a team and developing a more holistic approach. 
The CCG should continue to work towards this goal, and to investigate other new ways of 
working to encourage and develop recruitment to GP practices

6.That there should be consideration given to common terms and conditions for practice nurses, 
to enable more movement between surgeries, so that this will create increased job 
opportunities/job satisfaction for nursing staff. This will be beneficial in recruiting and 
retaining nurses in the borough in the short and longer term

7.That there is a need to further develop the use of digital technology to support new ways of 
working in primary care. In addition to those initiatives already being undertaken, the 
development of online consultations should be further developed, and support should be 
given to the North London Health Information Exchange initiative, which will allow clinical 
staff to view integrated records from across provider organisations

8.That discussions should take place with regard to further improving access for patients for GP 
surgeries, with increased availability to an increased range of services at HUBS, extended 
access in evenings and at weekends, and provision of investment for additional facilities to 
provide more appointments at GP surgeries

9.That, given that the Committee heard evidence about the benefits that have been achieved for 
patients through social prescribing, there should be increased development of provision in 
this area for GP’s to link in with non-medical based services, which can provide support and 
develop skills and self-knowledge, in order to assist patients in managing their conditions. 
Evidence has also shown that social prescribing builds capacity into the health and social 

Page 70



4

care system, and offers an alternative to traditional health care interventions. There is new 
funding provided by the national GP Contract specifically for additional social prescribing 
workforce, which support this work. 

10. That the Committee welcome the additional funding provided through the GP contract, and 
the development of digital and IT technology to support practices, and the Committee 
support the workforce projects taking place across the North Central London region. The 
Committee also support the development of the NHS App, and the provision of 25% of 
appointments being made available on line, recognising that this does not remove the ability 
for patients to book in person or over the phone, and that any ‘unbooked’ online 
appointments are not, therefore, ‘lost’. The Committee encourage practices to consider 
making changes to their appointments booking systems, and to consider their triage 
processes, as part of their online booking process, recognising that practices already seek to 
ensure they have effective triage processes to ensure that patient needs are met.

Page 71



5

MAIN FINDINGS

1) The review commenced in July 2018, and the Committee received evidence from a 
number of witnesses

Evidence from Islington CCG/Public Health

2) The Committee were informed that there are 33 GP practices in Islington, (this has now 
reduced to 32 practices due to the merging of 2 practices) serving a total registered 
population of 252,000. These practices range in size, from a registered list of 1700 
patients, to a list of 18000 patients. These range from 4 practices with single handed 
GP’s, to 6 practices with over 4 GP partners. All practices have been inspected by the 
CQC over the past 38 months, and at the time of writing 30 were rated as good, 2 were 
rated as requiring improvement, and 1 was rated as inadequate. The 2 rated as requiring 
improvement have since been re-inspected and rated good.

3) The Committee were also informed that the known challenges for primary care included 
a growing demand for services, due to more complex health needs, population growth, 
and people living longer. There is also a struggling workforce, and it should be noted,  
that 25% of the North Central London GP’s are over 55, and are likely to retire in the next 
10 years. For Islington, this equates to 19%, or 36 GP’s. Fewer GP’s are also looking for 
partnerships, and there are more recruitment and retention challenges

4) Practices have formed into three larger integrated networks, and eight smaller primary 
care networks. The three larger networks cover Islington in three geographical localities:

i. North Islington has a population of 87025 residents (2016 estimate), and there are 
94,332 patients registered with 14 practices. In line with the rest of Islington, there is 
a higher number of young adults from 20-44, but also some who are frail and in poor 
health. The ethnic profile is generally very similar to the borough as a whole, although 
Finsbury Park has a greater diversity. The locality has a significant number of 
residents not in work, and life expectancy is below the Islington average, particularly 
in the Holloway area

ii. Central Islington has a population of 87025 residents (2016 estimate), and there are 
93247 patients registered with 12 practices. There are a higher number of younger 
adults between 20-44, and lower numbers of children than the London average. 
Educational attainment is relatively high, and unemployment is low, with an affluent 
working population

iii. South Islington has a population of 60991 (2016 estimate), and 63942 residents 
registered with 7 practices. The key age group for the locality is 20-29 years old, and 
there are distinct demographic differences, with greater health needs in Bunhill, and 
Caledonian wards. As with other wards, the demography is changing, due to housing 
developments, high housing costs and regeneration

5) In terms of the workforce, across the North Central London area, there are significant 
challenges for the future workforce, and there is a need to develop and grow the GP 
workforce significantly over the next few years. A recent survey of GP trainees, has 
demonstrated that there is a need to consider different employment models, and portfolio 
careers. The majority of GP trainees want a portfolio career, and to be involved in 
education and training, and to have a salaried role

Page 72



6

6) There is also a need to look at recruitment and retention, and work/life balance is 
increasingly important. As a significant number of older GP’s will be retiring in the next 10 
years, and younger GP’s are looking for variety and flexibility, and also that young nurses 
for career development, the Committee were of the view that as Islington is a vibrant, 
diverse community, that is attractive to young people, the advantages of the borough as 
a place to work and live, should be publicised in any recruitment campaign 

7) The Committee also noted that as many younger GP’s have indicated that they wish to 
have more flexibility and variety in their careers, and younger nurses wish to pursue 
more career development, it is felt that there should be increased development of team 
working in GP practices, such as the recruitment of advanced care practitioners, 
pharmacists, physician associates that can be based in practices. There should also be 
more of a focus on provision of care, as part of a team, and developing a more holistic 
approach. Islington CCG should continue to work towards this, and investigate other new 
ways of working to encourage and develop recruitment in GP practices. The Committee 
did note however that the high cost of housing/cost of living in London may impact on 
recruitment of staff

8) Furthermore, the Committee are of the view that there should be common terms and 
conditions given to practice nurses, to enable more movement between GP surgeries, so 
that this will increase job opportunities/job satisfaction for nursing staff. This will be 
beneficial in recruiting and retaining nurses in the borough in the short and long term

9) Starting in 2017/18, Islington CCG has supported practices to explore new ways of 
working, via ‘Team around the Practice’ pilots, and this has included an - MSK specialist 
in GP surgeries, super admin clerical coders, telephone triage, heath coach and 
navigator, a well -being site, and reception navigation, and these have achieved positive 
results

10) The Committee were informed that, responding to local pressures, and taking advantage 
of nationally available workforce schemes, has led Islington CCG to implement the 
creation of a number of posts, such as practice based pharmacists, primary care clinical 
fellows, and primary care mental health nurses

11) In addition, the Committee was informed that there is an evolving care sector, and 
renewed importance on the role of general practice, in providing care that is accessible, 
and is integrated across parts of a complex health and care system. It was noted that 
patient expectations are changing and becoming more challenging, in line with social and 
technological advances

12) The Committee also noted that there is also concern that some GP’s have ageing 
premises, and it was also noted that general practice is provided from a number of 
different types of premises. These range from purpose built premises to converted 
premises, which have a range of ownership models The Committee were of the view that 
Islington CCG/Islington GP Federation should work to establish integrated networks of 
GP surgeries, providing a wider range of facilities and services for patients

13) The Committee are also of the view that Islington CCG/Federation of Islington GP’s 
should consider, when looking at the development of integrated networks, to establish a 
closer working relationship of GP’s in the borough, the physical expansion of premises, 
where feasible, relocation of existing premises to larger sites, and remodelling of 
premises/sharing services to maximise clinical use. This should be done in conjunction 
with Islington Planning Department to ensure that where new housing developments are 

Page 73



7

being planned in the borough, premises are allocated for GP provision, where this is 
necessary

14) The Committee also feel that due to demographic changes taking place in the borough, 
there is a need to ensure GP surgeries are situated in the right locations, and have the 
facilities available to cope with an ageing population. The Committee are of the view that 
Islington CCG /Islington GP Federation should work with Council Planning Departments, 
to ensure that they are aware of local housing developments/population trends that may 
impact on GP service provision in the borough

15) The Committee noted that ction is being taken with regard to general practice as follows- 
Targeted investment into general practice, a focus on the existing and new workforce, 
the targeting of estates to support need, investment into quality improvement teams, 
prioritising digital opportunities, supporting practices to respond flexibly to demand, 
enabling the Health and Care Integrated model (CHIN), enabling collaborative working 
across local healthcare systems, and social prescribing

16) In terms of investment, Islington CCG investment into primary care includes a nationally 
set funding for core primary medical services, including provision of service, quality and 
outcome framework payments and premises. The allocation received in Islington 
currently exceeds the core costs of primary care, to support increased investment. There 
is an investment plan in place. 

17) In addition:
i. The CCG has historically invested in Locally Commissioned Services – 

additional services commissioned from primary care, over and above the 
requirements of the core contract; and

ii. There are currently a number of national funding streams supported by the 
GP Forward View, including: £3 per head of population allocated from CCG 
funds over 2017/18, and 2018/19, in order to support practices to look at 
internal processes for demand management; significant funding for extended 
primary care, topped up with CCG funds in Islington; funding to develop 
online consultations; and funding to support practice resilience.

18) A Quality improvement support team (QIST), is commissioned by the CCG, and provided 
by Islington GP Federation, to provide hands on quality improvement to address 
unwarranted variation, to develop consistent standards and services to all patients, 
introducing and delivering, with practices, new ways of working, innovation and more 
rigorous and systematic approaches to patient care. Quality improvement methodology is 
used for project design and evaluation. The local QIST has been operational since 
August 2017, and is made up of local GP’s, nurses, pharmacists, practice managers and 
an analyst. Key achievements to date have included: 

i. data sharing across all practices to enable risk stratification for patient care, 
ii. increasing the number of people vaccinated against flu before the end of 

October 2017 i.e. early in the flu season, and the total number vaccinated 
during the last winter.

iii. Increasing the proportion of people with Atrial Fibrilation (which is a risk factor 
for stroke), who are on medication appropriate medication to prevent a stroke, 
from 70% - 78%

Page 74



8

iv. In relation to diabetic patients, a review has been carried out, as to how each 
practice manages their diabetic patients, and suggesting process 
improvements using local evidence. 

19) The Committee was informed that there is a need to further develop the use of digital 
technology, to support new ways of working in primary care. There are a number of 
initiatives currently in place – EMIS web, which is a primary care clinical system across 
Islington, which is a cloud based system, allowing access from any location. There is 
also Docman, a document management system that also allows the electronic transfer of 
documents between provider organisations, as well as onward filing into clinical records. 
In addition, iPLATO, is a text messaging service relating to appointments, which assists 
in reducing missed appointments, and there are also health campaigns run by practices.  
Currently in development are on line consultations, which is a web portal that gives 
patients an additional path to access their GP practices, and allows triaging of patients, 
signposting and a symptom checker. In addition, there is also the North Central London 
Health Information Exchange, which is a portal which will provide clinical staff with an 
integrated view of records from across provider organisations 

20) The Committee noted that in terms of responding to demand, improving access is a 
continual focus, and Islington CCG is investing in a multi-year improving access scheme. 
Joint work with practices has enabled development of a set of guidelines for recording 
appointment data in practice.  This means that recording of appointment data in practices 
is standardised and accurate, and can therefore be measured, and comparisons made 
between practices. Starting in 2018/19 practices are incentivised to increase the number 
of appointments offered during the core hours (9.00am to 6.30pm) in relation to the 
Islington average.

21) Islington CCG has also commissioned an extended access service, the iHUB, which 
allows urgent and routine general practice appointments in the evening, and at 
weekends. These are at one of three iHUB locations. The service enables access to 
NHS general practice from 8am to 8pm seven days a week, and ensures Islington 
patients can book via their normal GP surgery, or by calling their practice, when it is 
closed and the iHUB is open. The CCG are currently engaging with patients, and the 
public, about the focus of current investment in the Walk in Centre, which is not aligned 
to the new iHUB model.

22) In terms of responding to demand, as part of the GP Forward Review, NHS England has 
produced a suite of 10 high impact actions to release time for care, and the CCG is 
funding practices (via the £3/head funding referred to above) to implement these, and 
encouraging GP’s to think collaboratively when doing this

23) There is collaborative working at different levels to build resilience, and in Islington 
practices have a history of working together in networks to review, with a multi 
professional team, the care of patients identified as having a particularly high level of 
need. This is being expanded to other areas, for example, sharing a practice based 
pharmacist across a network of practices

24) Practices are also collaborating on a larger scale, with partners across the system, in 
Integrated Networks, focused on developing place-based models of care. Practices have 
also formed and a GP Federation, and this currently provides the iHUB service, a 
community gynaecology service, a community ENT service, and is leading the 
development of primary care networks, primary care participation in integrated networks, 
and many primary care resilience initiatives

Page 75



9

25) In terms of GP networks, through a process of engagement, Islington practices have 
agreed to group together in 8 GP networks, covering populations of 30-35000 people, as 
the best model to deliver better, more consistent primary care. Practices remain 
independent entities, but will develop stronger relationships with other practices in their 
network. These GP networks will form building blocks for 3 integrated networks, around 
which acute, community, social care and the voluntary sector can align their services. 
The Committee were informed that there is a need to further develop Care and 
Integrated networks and we welcome this 

26) The Committee was informed that there is felt to be a need to develop social prescribing, 
which is a process of linking people with a range of non-medical community based 
services, that can support wellbeing and develop skills, knowledge and self-confidence to 
self-manage conditions. Islington has well developed services delivering Social 
Prescribing, both commissioned (by the Local Authority and/or CCG) and non-
commissioned. Evidence suggests that social prescribing builds capacity into the health 
and social care system, offering an alternative to traditional health care interventions. 
Patients who are more activated are better able to self-manage, and they tend to use 
traditional services less frequently 

27) Patient activation refers to the extent to which people feel engaged and confident in 
taking care of their health conditions. Patients who are more activated are better able to 
self-manage, and use traditional services less frequently, and there are validated tools 
that measure levels of patient activation

28) A NHS England/Foundation based evaluation on the use of PAM (Patient Activation 
Measure) tool in Islington in 2014/15 found that 13% of patients reported the highest 
level of ability in managing their health conditions, and 25% reported the lowest level, 
and many feel overwhelmed by their conditions. Patients most able to manage their 
conditions had 38% fewer emergency admissions (Patient Activation Measure: a 
universally recognised validated tool developed by US company InSignia)

29) If patients with low levels of activation are better supported, in order to manage their 
condition, evidence from other areas suggests that attendances at A&E could be 
prevented. Evidence supports that social prescribing builds capacity into the health and 
social care system, offering an alternative to traditional health care interventions. A pilot 
study showed a reduction in GP consultations, for patients referred to social prescribing 
of 33%. Patients identified were frequent attenders at this practice

30)  In terms of Social prescribing, Islington Navigation Service is provided by Age UK, and 
this is the principal social prescribing service in the borough. There are 7 care navigators 
who support patient/service users to identify ways of achieving individual health aims. 
The navigators have a range of skills to be able to assist patient/service users.

31) The navigators also connect service users to appropriate health/care services, and other 
non-traditional providers, to make best use of community resources for the delivery of 
these goals. There is enhanced signposting through up to date knowledge of available 
local services

32) There is also promotion of independence for patient/service users, through improved 
availability of information and support linked to personal goals. It is not simply a 

Page 76



10

signposting service, and the navigators are highly skilled professionals, with 
backgrounds in a range of social and community care services, such as mental health 
and drug and alcohol services

33) The Islington Navigation Service is open to all adults with an identified need. There are 
onward referrals to over 130 different organisations per year, and service users are 81% 
more likely/highly likely to reduce the use of primary and secondary care services, due to 
navigation services interventions. There were 1088 referrals in 2017/18, and there were 
350 referrals from GP practices

34) The Committee are of the view that given the positive benefits that are achievable 
through social prescribing, there should be increased development of provision in this 
area, for GP’s to link in with non-medical based services, which can provide support and 
develop skills and self-knowledge, in order to better manage their conditions. Evidence 
has shown that social prescribing builds capacity and brings benefits to the health and 
social care system, and offers an alternative to traditional health care interventions.                            
There is new funding provided by the National GP Contract, referred to later in the report, 
for additional social prescribing workforce, which will support this work

35) The new 2018 3 year contract with Age UK requires the service to develop and build 
links with primary care to raise the profile across all sites, and to increase referrals. This 
is supported by a model of Integrated Networks. This builds collaboration and a team 
around the GP practice. GP’s from groups of 3/4 practices meet regularly with a team of 
health and social care practitioners to discuss the care needs of patients who have the 
most complex needs

36) Each network is constituted of a small group of practices and each meeting focuses on 
patients from the member practices. Health and care issues are discussed, and the team 
creates a co-ordinated plan to make the best use of local services. This can lead to a 
broad range of interventions from health and care service

37) In terms of contractual consideration, Islington CCG aim to work proactively with 
practices facing challenges at an early stage, by offering informal support, peer support 
from Governing Body clinicians, and routes to additional funding for practices 
experiencing difficulty. The Local Medical Committee and Islington GP Federation can 
also offer support to practices

38) Practices can also apply to reduce their catchment area, or temporarily close their patient 
list. This application is not viewed in isolation, and NHS England assurance can be 
sought regarding continuity for patients, and also to seek assurance that there is local 
capacity, and choice for patients, and to consider benchmarks, that indicate how a 
practice is managing demand

39)  A practice may also consider merging with another practice/s, to strengthen their 
resilience, even if not co-located on a single site, as it allows both practices to strengthen 
back office functions. Information, and support can be provided through the NHS 
resilience programme, to practices interested in this option

Page 77



11

40) The Islington GP Estates Strategy shows that in June 2018, there were 33 practices 
(now reduced to 32), across 31 sites in Islington. 3 sites host 2 practices each, and one 
practice has 2 sites. Practice sizes range from 1733 to 18603 patients

41) The highest ward population increase has been 3000 residents, equivalent to 1.6 FTE 
GP’s, and there are 35 identified sites for new homes in the borough, with over 50 units. 
This is an estimated 6500 new homes, and 13000 new residents. The largest 
development is 750 homes, which is over 1500 residents, and equates to a primary care 
need that would require an additional 0.8 FTE GP.

42) Some practices have extended opening hours, and there are 3 practices that host 
iHUBS, which offer evening and Saturday/Sunday GP appointments to all patients 
registered with an Islington GP. 6 practices offer some opening on Saturdays for their 
own patients

43) In terms of ownership of GP premises, 3 sites are owned by Community Health 
Partnerships, which own and manage NHS PFI sites, 4 practices are owned and 
managed my Whittington Health, 1 site is owned by the NHS Property Services. The 
remaining sites are owned/leased commercially by a range of landlords, and include 
purpose built premises, as well as converted premises

44) In terms of the impact of new housing developments, Public Health and Planning carry 
out an analysis of GP practices, in order to ascertain the impact of new housing 
developments, and practice registrations, which is shared with NHS colleagues

45) There is an area based analysis of GP registrations. This informs responses to 
consultations, such as the recent Roman Way practice proposals. There is a large 
concentration of social housing around the Roman Way medical centre, and ill health is 
more prevalent in areas with a large proportion of social housing. An analysis has shown 
that 22% of residents living in areas with high social housing have a long term condition, 
compared to 9% in areas with no social housing

46) Islington CCG has identified a number of opportunities to modernise, and increase, 
primary care provision, which includes physical expansion of the premises, where 
feasible, relocation of existing practices to larger sites, and remodelling of existing 
premises to maximise clinical use 

Evidence of Islington GP Federation

47) It was noted that each of the current 32 GP practices are facing challenges of   growing 
demand, a struggling workforce, evolving care needs and ageing premises. The 
Federation is funded through contracts, the principal ones being ENT, Gynaecology and 
the iHUBS. The Federation seeks to co-ordinate this funding, and make best use of 
resources to support local GP’s, and to establish and provide models of care, including 
preventative care, with partners

48) The 32 GP practices are small businesses under contract to the NHS, but with significant 
variances.  These include staff loyalty, resilience, efficiency, modernity, continuity, 
capability, scale, quality, patients, ambition, ethos, culture and care

Page 78



12

49) The Committee noted that the Islington GP Federation was formed in 2017 as a private 
limited company, with each share owned by one GP practice, and held in trust for all 
partners. The Islington GP Federation operates exclusively under NHS contracts, and 
related contracts such as Health Education England. The Federation will employ over 
160 staff this month and was established to ensure Islington registered patients have 
free and equitable service, access to good, safe, value for money primary care. It seeks 
to maintain financial viability of the Federation, in order to achieve this primary goal

50) The Federation builds GP ‘at scale’ capability and culture, and enables GP’s resilience 
and delivers new models of care. At borough level there is integrated access e.g. iHUBS, 
GP retention schemes, quality improvement support via the QIST, analytics resource and 
access to patients records for risk stratification for direct care

51) The Federation provides support to the Integrated Networks, which are locality based.  
This support ranges from the employment and co-ordination of new clinical roles, such 
as practice based pharmacists, to the provision of integrated technology to allow 
collaboration between practices and other agencies. 

52) All initiatives from the Federation are founded on a bottom up design. Quality 
improvement methodologies and good technology. In terms of GP networks and 
neighbourhoods there are 8 network ambassadors, 8 practice based pharmacists, a 
shared estate and workforce, 8 GP mentors, and patient and public participation

53) The Committee were pleased to note that the GP Federation had won a Parliamentary 
award for Healthier Communities, for showing a really proactive approach to assessing 
the health needs of the area that they serve, including some of the hardest to reach 
communities, and working together with partners to put in place targeted programmes, 
which make a real difference to peoples’ health and well-being

54) The Committee was also informed that the Islington GP Federation had made a 
successful bid for providing ‘flu vaccinations to housebound patients, working 
collaboratively with Whittington Health, and that this would enable other checks, such as 
blood pressure checks, to be carried out at the same time. In general, the Federation 
works in close co-operation with numerous organisations, including Whittington Health, 
Camden and Islington Foundation Trust, Age UK and others

55) The GP Federation were of the view Islington is well placed to meet future challenges 
and the iHUB offer has improved the service to residents

56) The Committee are of the view that discussions should take place with regard to further 
improving access for patients at GP surgeries, with increased availability to a range of 
services at HUBS, extended access in the evenings and at weekends, and the provision 
of investment for additional facilities to provide more appointments at GP surgeries

57) The GP Federation informed the Committee that the risk is that it tries to carry out too 
many things and that it was important for the Federation to maintain sustainability as it 
grows as an organisation.

Page 79



13

Evidence Islington/Haringey CCG and North London Partners

58) The Committee also received evidence from Clare Henderson, Director of 
Commissioning, Islington and Haringey CCG’s and Sarah McIlwaine, Programme 
Director, Health and Care Closer to Home, North London Partners. In addition, we had 
documentary evidence in relation to the North Central London Strategy for General 
Practice

59) The Committee noted that North Central London had made progress in some areas of 
primary care, however there are still a number of areas to be developed

60) There are significant challenges that North Central London face in recruiting and 
retaining GP’s, there is an ageing workforce, fewer Doctors and nurses being recruited, 
demographic changes, etc.

61) The North Central London strategy needs to address 4 key areas – improving access, 
partnership working, more integrated working now that the long term NHS funding plan 
has been agreed, and the development and aligning of GP practices in networks, and a 
local implementation plan would be developed to address these priorities. This would 
involve the input of Healthwatch

62) The development of social prescribing has been particularly encouraging and there is the 
need to develop how to build capacity in GP practices. This could include having 
pharmacists based in GP surgeries, and upskilling practice nurses. There is also work 
taking place with GP’s in the area of social prescribing, and ensuring there is effective 
management of this, including analysing the outcomes of social prescribing and which 
services are over- subscribed. The Committee have made a recommendation in this 
regard

63) There is also the need to ensure the retention of GP’s that the borough already has, in 
addition to recruiting new GP’s. NHS England has allocated funding for recruitment of 
GP’s, and there are now training practices in the borough for new GP’s. Retention of 
GP’s is also an important issue, and it is important that teams are developed at GP 
practices, such as pharmacists, physiotherapists, creating apprenticeships for health 
care assistants, and developing more integrated team working – See the Committee’s 
recommendation in this regard

64) The Committee noted that GP practices are individual businesses, and, as such, they 
could employ staff on their own individual terms and conditions of employment. However, 
with the inception of the Islington Federation of GP’s it is hoped that there will be 
opportunities for staff to rotate between GP practices, and this should assist in 
rationalising terms and conditions of staff across the network 

Evidence from Primary Care workforce/Public Health 

65) The Committee also received evidence in relation to the new 5 - year framework for GP 
contract reform to implement the NHS Long Term Plan, and also in relation to 
developments to digital technology

Page 80



14

66) A 5 year framework for GP contract reform was announced in January 2019, and the 
NHS England and General Practitioners Committee (GPC), England, have negotiated a 
deal spanning 5 years. Elements will be introduced,throughout the 5 year period, and in 
2019 will be focusing on building the foundations, creating Networks and starting to 
expand the workforce. 2020 onwards will see the workforce increase further and 
additional funding and services reconfigured, as decided by the networks

67) The changes should provide much needed support, and resources, for general practice, 
expanding the workforce, reducing workload, increasing funding, retaining GP and 
partnership autonomy, and ensuring GP’s have a leadership role at the centre of primary 
care

68) Practices will form Primary Care Networks through a new Network Directed Enhanced 
Service (DES). Networks will facilitate shared decision making between practices for 
their total network populations, typically (30-50000), around funding and workforce 
distribution, and augmented service provision. Networks will need to be geographically 
contiguous

69) Practices will sign a network agreement, which outlines what decisions the network has 
made about how they will work together, which practice will deliver what (for specific 
packages of care), how funding will be allocated between practices, how new workforce 
will be shared, including who will employ them etc.

70) Within the Primary Care networks workforce, additional staff will be introduced, and 
partially funded by NHS England and partially by the practices. The number will build up 
over the 5 year period

71) NHS England will fund 70% of each professional including their on-costs. Networks will 
need to fund the additional 30% themselves. The exception is social prescribers, which 
NHS will fund 100%, including on-costs

72) The Network will decide how the additional workforce is employed, i.e. by a single lead 
practice, by an organisation, such a Federation or Community Trust, on behalf of the 
Network, or different professionals employed by different practices within the network

73) The workforce, and network, will be led by a Clinical Director, chosen from within the 
GP’s of each network. This clinical Director will be funded, an average of a day a week 
for a network of 40000 patients (including on-costs), from new funding provided by NHS 
England. The new workforce per network in 2019 is as follows – 1 x clinical pharmacist, 
1x social prescriber, in 2020 first contact physiotherapists and physician associates, 
2021 all of these will increase and community paramedics will be introduced. In 2022 and 
2023 all of the aforementioned workforce will be increased and by 2024 a typical network 
will receive 5 clinical pharmacists (equivalent of one per practices), three social 
prescribers, three first contact physiotherapists, two physician associates and one 
community paramedic

74) The Committee also received evidence regarding changes to IT and Digital, to support 
electronic access, to appointment booking, to consultations and to information, which will 
be phased in, across the years. A programme to digitalise paper records will commence 
to enable the creation of a complete electronic record for each patient

Page 81



15

75) Practices will be required to offer 1 appointment per 3000 patients, per day, for NHS 111 
to book registered patients into, following triage. These are existing appointments with 
the timing decided by the practice, but should be spaced evenly throughout the day

76) Practices will no longer use fax machines for either NHS or patient communications

77) In 2019, the GP contract funding will increase by 1.4%, in addition to the funding through 
the networks. This includes a 2% uplift for GP staff pay and expenses, and uplift for 
practices to establish and develop networks, via an additional service within the global 
sum, an uplift due to population increase, an adjustment for indemnity state backed 
schemes, an increase in the value of giving some vaccinations and immunisations, 
including influenza, a £20m recurrent for costs associated with Subject Access requests, 
and £30m for practices to make available appointments to NHS 111

78) There will also be changes to the GP Quality and Outcomes framework, through which 
practices receive payment for achievement against specified outcomes. There will also 
be the introduction of a Quality Improvement programme at Network level

79) The new GP contract supports and accelerates many aspects of the work in Islington 
and North Central London Primary Care Strategy. Further details are awaited as to how 
many aspects of the contract will work, and it should be noted that the timescales are 
ambitious. Encouraging conversations are being held with the Islington GP Federation, 
and Local Medical Committee about working jointly to support practices, as the existing 
network arrangements become more formalised through the contract

80) NHS Digital has developed an NHS App, which will be activated in Islington in April 2019, 
enabling patients to access their GP records, book appointments online, request repeat 
prescriptions, undertake a symptom checker, and register their organ donation 
preferences. This will be actively promoted nationally from September 2019

81) The Committee are of the view that there is the need to develop the use of digital 
technology, in order to support new ways of working in primary care. In addition to those 
initiatives already being undertaken, the development of online consultations should be 
further developed, and support should be given to the North London Health Information 
Exchange initiative, which will allow staff to view integrated records from across provider 
organisations

82) The Committee welcome the additional funding provided through the GP Contract, and 
the development of digital and IT  Technology to support practices. The Committee 
support the workforce projects taking place through the NCL region. In addition, we 
support the development of the NHS App, and the provision of 25% of appointments 
being available on line. The Committee would encourage practices to consider making 
changes to their booking systems, and to consider their triage processes, as part of the 
online booking process

83) The Committee also encourage practices to consider making changes to their 
appointment booking systems, and to consider their triage processes, aa part of their 
online booking process, recognising that practices already to seek to ensure that they 
have effective triage processes, to ensure that patient’s needs are met

Page 82



16

84) In Islington work will be taking place with practices to ‘switch on’ the link between the 
App, and individual practices, over the coming months in preparation for the April go live 
date

85) For practices the key change will be the focus, through the contract, on having 25% of 
appointments available online, and this may lead to practices making changes to booking 
systems, and consider their triage processes

86) In terms of online consultations there is a 3 year funding proposal, through the GP 
Forward Review (GPF), and this was made available from 2017/18 in order to develop 
local solutions for providing online GP consultations

87) A small number of Islington practices have expressed an interest to pilot online GP 
consultations in advance of wider roll-out.

88) North Central London recently completed a procurement, to identify a successful tracker 
for the GPF online consultations. The solution is an online symptom checker, which has 
the potential to release capacity in general practice

89) Due diligence process is underway, including testing in a live practice environment e.g. 
direct integration into EMIS for appointment bookings

90) Video consultation functionality will be available from mid-March 2019. The NCL supplier 
is piloting this in another area. An app version of the solution is expected to be available 
in February 2019, and so will be available in those practices who have expressed an 
interest to offer this service, once this solution has been implemented

91) Initial discussions with the supplier have indicated that they have the capability and 
interest in aligning their product with the NHS App over time

92) The Committee noted that there are also workforce projects across North Central 
London, which include – NCL Workforce Action Plan/GP Strategy implementation, 
International GP recruitment, GP Retentions schemes, New Employment models in 
primary care, the Practice Educator Team development (formerly superhubs), and a GP 
Nursing 10 point plan. In addition, there are the development of physician associates in 
primary care, super admin to increase clinical capacity by reducing clinician’s 
administrative burden, care navigation, clinical pharmacists in general practice, trainee 
nursing associates, General Practice nurse training, the introduction of the Learn and 
Earn apprenticeship pathway

93) The Committee were informed that Islington is well placed to implement local and 
national strategies, and it was noted that the Islington ratio of GP’s to patients was better 
than Barnet, Enfield and Haringey

94) The Committee also noted that the CCG were currently part-funding the cohort of 
community pharmacists, however there are clear funding arrangements for future cohorts 
via the new GP contract

Page 83



17

CONCLUSION

The Committee considered a wide range of evidence in relation to GP surgeries in the borough

There is an ageing profile of GP’s in the borough, and there is a need to address demographic 
change, the expectations of the younger generation of GP’s and the need to develop increased 
integrated networks of staff, and to build resilience amongst the GP community. In addition, the 
provision of alternative therapies, such as social prescribing, and the development of teams of staff 
within practices, such as physiotherapists, pharmacists etc. can assist in alleviating the workload of 
GP’s and ‘free up’ time for improving access to patients to GP’s

The attractions of Islington to work and live we feel can also be marketed to recruit younger GP’s to 
the borough, however the high cost of housing and living may limit such recruitment

The recommendations in the scrutiny review look to address some of these issues and can feed into 
the local plan,  that will be developed through the North Central London Strategy

The Committee also welcome the development of digital technology applications that should assist 
patients and GP’s in providing more accessible and efficient delivery of services

The Committee wish to thank all those witnesses who gave evidence to the Committee

Page 84



18

MEMBERSHIP OF THE HEALTH AND CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 2018/19

Osh Gantly – Chair
Nurullah Turan – Vice Chair
Jilani Chowdhury
Tricia Clarke
Kadeema Woodbyrne
Anjna Khuruna
Martin Klute
Sara Hyde

Co-opted Member
Jana Witt – Islington Healthwatch

Substitutes:

Satnam Gill OBE
Angela Picknell
Mouna Hamitouche MBE

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE -2019/20

Osh Gantly – Chair
Nurullah Turan – Vice Chair
Joe Calouri
Sara Hyde
Martin Klute
Jilani Chowdhury
Tricia Clarke
Roulin Khondoker

Substitutes:
Mouna Hamitouche MBE
Satnam Gill
Anjna Khurana

Co-opted Member:

Vacancy- Healthwatch

Acknowledgements:   The Committee would like to thank all the witnesses who gave evidence to 
the review.

Officer Support:   
Peter Moore – Democratic Services
Lead officer/s- Julie Billett – Director of Public Health and Rebecca Kingsnorth and Imogen Bloor-
Islington CCG

Page 85



19

APPENDIX A

SCRUTINY INITIATION DOCUMENT

SCRUTINY INITIATION DOCUMENT (SID)
Review: 
GP surgeries (mini-review)
Scrutiny Review Committee: 
Health and Care
Director leading the review: 
Julie Billet, Director of Public Health
Lead officers: 
Dr Imogen Bloor, GP and clinical lead for Primary Care, Islington CCG
Rebecca Kingsnorth, Assistant Director of Primary Care, Islington CCG
Overall aim: 

To consider the sustainability of general practice and opportunities to support sustainability in the 
context of rising demand, changing patterns of need, and significant population growth.

Objectives of the review:

 To examine service developments in place to support increased capacity in primary 
care, including:

o social prescribing and options for increasing the number of people, including 
children, that can benefit from this model; 

o interfaces with other services.
 To examine the key enablers of primary care:

o digital and technological advances;
o planned developments in the primary care estate; 
o approaches to both attracting new workforce into Islington and supporting 

existing workforce
 To assess contractual approaches to securing the required capacity in general 

practice. 
How is the review to be carried out: 

Scope of the review

The review will focus on developments in general practice intended to support increased capacity 
to meet population need. This will include both physical developments (primary care estate), and 
developments in the model of provision of primary care. 

Types of evidence

1. Documentary evidence including:
a. North Central London Primary Care Strategy (draft for engagement);
b. Information on planned developments in estates
c. Data on in-hours and extended access
d. Information on digital and technological advances that may be relevant 

for primary care
e. Information on workforce developments

Page 86



20

f. Information on the current social prescribing service
2. Witness evidence including presentations from:

a. NHS England primary care contracting team;
b. Islington GP Federation;
c. Londonwide Local Medical Committees; 
d. Interface community services (e.g. practice based mental health, MSK)
e. Islington HealthWatch
f. Age UK (providers of care navigator – social prescribing service)

Additional information:
In carrying out the review the committee will consider equalities implications and resident 
impacts identified by witnesses. The Executive is required to have due regard to these, and any 
other relevant implications, when responding to the review recommendations. 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Resources Department
7 Newington Barrow Way, London N7 7EP

Report of: Executive Member for Finance, Performance and Community Safety 

Meeting of: Date: Ward(s):

Executive 11 July 2019 List wards: All

Delete as appropriate Non-exempt

THE APPENDIX TO THIS REPORT IS NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

SUBJECT: Procurement Strategy and Contract Award for End User 
Computing (EUC) Hardware

1. Synopsis

1.1 This report seeks pre-tender approval for the procurement strategy in respect of End User 
Computing (EUC) Hardware in accordance with Rule 2.7 of the Council’s Procurement Rules.

1.2 The Council seeks to acquire 4,500 EUC laptop devices over a period of 12 months through the 
HealthTrust Europe framework agreement – Lot 1.

2. Recommendations

2.1 To approve the procurement strategy for EUC Hardware as outlined in paragraph 3.4 of this 
report, utilising the HealthTrust Europe framework agreement – Lot 1.  

2.2 To approve the award of a direct-call contract from the HealthTrust Europe framework 
agreement – Lot 1 to XMA Limited to deliver the 4,500 EUC laptop devices over a period of 12 
months with a total value of £3,264,943.  

Page 89

Agenda Item E1



3. Background 

3.1 Nature of the service

Islington Council has approximately 4500 staff using Windows hardware devices such as 
laptops and desktops, which are up to seven years old.  The business objective of this 
procurement is to source the replacement of these devices with appropriate laptops as part of 
the Council’s on-going refresh of hardware. 

These devices are intended for business use and therefore have additional features for 
corporate use such as chips to manage security certificates, assured device drivers and 
consistent components.  These devices are more expensive than consumer laptops.  Consumer 
laptops are not suitable for corporate use as: they don’t meet the security standards required; 
have higher support costs; and are more likely to vary in design and features during their 
product lifecycle - meaning functional suitability cannot be assured. 

Hardware replenishment is a continuous process and is based on using devices while 
economic, which means a four-year replacement cycle. Hardware items are only replaced 
where necessary. This strategy ensures that the Council achieves the best use of Islington’s IT 
funding.

The required goods and associated services are currently supplied through an existing XMA 
call-off contract on framework agreement EA16, which is due to end in 2020.  EA16 does not 
permit leasing as a payment mechanism and so is not appropriate for this procurement.  At 
this point a direct replacement for replenishment has not being identified, it is also unclear if 
the EA16 group will continue to collaborate in new procurements.

3.2 Estimated Value

Values of existing call-contracts (for full 24-month term) are detailed below (based on 2016 
data, as 2018/2019 data is not representative due to Shared Digital arrangements).  The 
existing call-off contracts are based on the higher volumes of hardware refresh required in 
2014, due to the ‘Working Without Walls’ Windows 7 upgrade project.  This was not a full 
device refresh and our estate has devices in use from 2012.

No desktops or monitors will be acquired under this procurement, but a significant number of 
desktops will be replaced by laptop devices.  The proposed procurement will replace the total 
of 4,500 devices which would normally be a four-year cycle.  Spend below reflects a two-year 
refresh:

 Supply of Desktop and Monitors £58,719

 Supply of Laptops £1,530,760

Funding will come from existing revenue ICT budgets.  The intention is that at the end of year 
three of this agreement, a new procurement is undertaken with the goal of refreshing all 
devices during years four and five (reflecting the four-year economic and useable lifecycle of 
the devices).

Page 90



Following the results of the bidding process originally held under EA16 in 2018 and 2019, it is 
proposed that the maximum value of the contract will be £3.5m, based on forecasted demand 
over the five-year period.  The contract term will be for five years.

The total value of the procurement through the new Health Trust Europe framework 
agreement is £3,264,943.  The minimum commitment under this procurement is 4,500 devices.  
Should the Council decide at a later date that circumstances warrant an alternate approach, as 
the result of a change to the Digital Service strategy, there is no further obligation to purchase 
via the framework agreement once the commitment has been achieved.

For the purpose of this procurement, the estimated value is based on maximum forecasted 
level of laptop hardware to be acquired.  The estimate was arrived at in consultation with 
Digital Services colleagues.

The procurement has been benchmarked by the Interim Enterprise Architecture Strategy 
Manager within Islington Digital Services, following a process to obtain two manufacturers’ bids 
independent benchmark figures for each device type in February 2019.  The costs and 
specifications are shown in the comparison table within the exempt appendix.

The comparison table illustrates the best offer from each manufacturer and their bid price 
through XMA, our chosen supplier as selected under the Shared Digital arrangement.

The preferred payment mechanism for the procurement is a residual value lease arrangement, 
which means the actual cost incurred by the Council is £3,264,943.  This figure represents a 
saving of approximately £141,000, removing the Council’s costs in disposing and wiping of 
equipment at the end of its serviceable life, which provides a predictable cost forecast

3.3 Timetable

Device type recommendations and benchmarking has occurred.  The proposed timetable is:

Action Date
Executive Decision for Procurement Strategy 
and Contract Award

11 July 2018

Contract Implementation Commencing 18 July 2018 and continuing for 
12 Months
 

3.4 Options appraisal

Following the establishment of a sovereign Council Digital Services function, the Council has 
taken this process forward to ensure it acquires appropriate devices for its staff and members 
that reflect value for money and for a cost that is within its revenue budget provisions. 

The procurement will be for the provision of EUC hardware devices for a four-year agreement 
to the suppliers under the HealthTrust Europe framework agreement Lot-1.  This framework 
agreement was selected as it is compliant with the Official Journal of the European Union 

Page 91



(OJEU).  The framework agreement has been successfully used by the Council previously and 
the lots it offers are an ideal requirements match to this need. 

The HealthTrust Europe framework agreement permits a variety of payment mechanisms, 
including leasing.  Leasing has the potential to offer lower and predictable total cost of 
ownership (TCO).  Leasing includes arrangements for removal and safe disposal of equipment 
at the end of its useful life, as a residual value mechanism, which reduces the Council’s overlay 
to less than the capital cost of the equipment.

The Council looked at other frameworks agreements, including the EA16, in which it has been 
a participant for some years.  Alternative framework agreements did not meet the needs, 
either because they: 

 were insufficiently flexible in the mix of equipment they could supply;

 had a fixed catalogue, which was aged; or 

 did not permit the range of payment mechanisms. 

When the Council returned to a sovereign Digital Services function, the option of undertaking a 
full OJEU based procurement was considered.  The option was not feasible on two grounds: 
the cost of doing so would be disproportionate when compliant frameworks agreements were 
available; and the time to undertake a full process would exceed requirements.  The Council 
needs update its desktop and laptop estate to Windows 10 before the current software, 
Windows 7, goes out of support on the 14th of January, 2020.  The council needs to update to 
Windows 10 to reduce the risk of being susceptible to cyber-attack, such as the Wannacry 
attack, that badly impacted the NHS. 

3.5 Key Considerations

The requirement for London Living Wage to be considered is not expected to have a financial 
impact in this instance.  Staff associated with this type of contract will typically be Technical 
Service Account Managers, who are likely to be paid in excess of the London Living Wage.

The use of appropriate equipment ensures officers can efficiently meet the goals of the 
Council, deliver services to citizens and provide flexibility as needs evolve in the borough.

As part of the arrangement, the equipment will be returned to the manufacturer.  They have 
“state of the art” facilities within the United Kingdom to securely wipe equipment.  They will 
then either repurpose the equipment for further use if the specification of devices meets needs 
or they will recycle and recover materials such as metals, glass, plastics in a sustainable 
manner.  The Council will be provided with certification of this disposal.

This is an arrangement to supply equipment only and as such there is no Islington-based 
engineering or support personnel from the vendors.  As such, there is no opportunity to 
leverage any engineering personnel to enhance other activities such as community-interest 
projects or social value add-ons.

There are no TUPE, pensions or other staffing implications identified.

Page 92



3.6 Evaluation

The Council will call-off utilising the HealthTrust Europe framework agreement Lot-1.  Prices 
have been sought from the two organisations on lot 1 of the framework agreement.  HP via 
XMA Limited was the most advantageous offer.  That evaluation was based on the lowest 
overall cost for a single manufacturer’s set of devices, as this provides industry standard 
commonality in build and support.  The starting point for costs comparison was the purchase 
costs of the equipment as this is the sum that would be funded under a lease arrangement.

Following the decision to return to a sovereign Islington Digital Services function, a review of 
requirements was undertaken to ensure they focused on the Council’s needs.  A report of these 
recommendations was endorsed by the Council’s 2020 board and the Interim Chief Digital 
Information Officer.

The device type bundle was selected following a review of Council work-styles.  The market 
was tested for devices that met the Council’s role-based needs.  Comparisons with other 
manufacturers were made and all other criteria being equal, the costs of the HP set of devices 
provide the council with best value for money for the required specification. 

The devices were tested to ensure compatibility with the needs of the Council.  The one device 
set had a slight advantage (in terms of SIM support for mobile working).  All other aspects 
were considered equal.  The cost of the required mix of devices was lowest with equipment 
manufactured by HP.  XMA Limited are the reseller HP work with under this framework 
agreement.  HP do not sell equipment directly without a reseller.

A comparison of costs and the retail prices is included within the exempt appendix.  The 
preferred payment mechanism for the procurement is a residual value lease arrangement.  
This means the actual cost incurred by the Council is £3,264,943, saving approximately 
£141,000.  This also removes the Council’s costs in disposing and wiping of equipment at the 
end of its serviceable life.

3.7 Business Risks

Business risks associated with this procurement have been largely mitigated by the fact that:

 the Council has ensured its specific requirements were the consideration for this 
procurement 

 an OJEU compliant framework agreement will be used for the procurement to meet the 
Council’s requirements

 HealthTrust Europe has been previously used successfully by the Council in other 
procurements

 the volume of devices is significant, and this procurement will fix the device costs for the 
4,500-minimum commitment, providing a known TCO to the council.

3.8 The Employment Relations Act 1999 (Blacklist) Regulations 2010 explicitly prohibit the 
compilation, use, sale or supply of blacklists containing details of trade union members and 
their activities.  Following a motion to full Council on 26 March 2013, all tenderers will be 

Page 93



required to complete an anti-blacklisting declaration.  Where an organisation is unable to 
declare that they have never blacklisted, they will be required to evidence that they have 'self-
cleansed'.  The Council will not award a contract to organisations found guilty of blacklisting 
unless they have demonstrated 'self-cleansing' and taken adequate measures to remedy past 
actions and prevent re-occurrences.  

3.9 The following relevant information is required to be specifically approved by the Executive in 
accordance with rule 2.8 of the Procurement Rules: 

Relevant information Information/section in report

1 Nature of the service Procurement of 4,500 EUC laptop devices over a 
period of 12 months through a leasing arrangement.

See paragraph 3.1

2 Estimated value The value of this procurement is £3,264,943.

See paragraph 3.2

3 Timetable Contract implementation shall commence 18 July 
2018 and continue for 12 Months.

See paragraph 3.3

4 Options appraisal for tender 
procedure including consideration of 
collaboration opportunities

The options appraisal recommends the use of the 
HealthTrust Europe framework agreement Lot 1

See paragraph 3.4

5 Key Considerations Outlined within the report.

See paragraph 3.5

6 Award criteria The Council shall call-off utilising the HealthTrust 
Europe framework agreement Lot-1.  

The evaluation is based on the lowest overall cost for 
a single manufacturer’s set of devices.

See paragraph 3.6

7 Any business risks associated with 
entering the contract

Outlined within the report.

See paragraph 3.7

8 Any other relevant financial, legal 
or other considerations.

See paragraph 4.1 – 4.4

Page 94



4. Implications

4.1 Financial implications: 
Leasing offers greater value to the Council as the lease term reflects the useful life of the 
equipment to the Council (due to technological obsolesce of the equipment and the need to 
stay updated due to security and compatibility issues), after which it would look to dispose and 
replace.  The nominal payments over the lease term is expected to be less than the required 
outlay to purchase outright. The leasing option additionally saves the Council the increasing 
costs of safely and environmentally responsibly disposing of the equipment at the endo fits life.  
This option also aids financial planning and management; a consistent lease payment allows 
the Council to accurately and consistently budget for the annual costs of the equipment.

4.2 Legal Implications:

The Council has power to acquire laptops which are required to enable its staff to carry out its 
statutory functions (section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 together with the relevant 
statutory functions).  Accordingly, the Council may enter into a contract with the successful 
supplier to secure the provision of laptops (section 1 of the Local Government (Contracts) Act 
1997).  The Council may acquire the laptops through leasing contract rather than purchasing 
them outright. 

The proposed contract is a public supply contract.  The threshold for application of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) is currently £181,302 for supply contracts. 
Contracts above this threshold must be procured with advertisement in the Official Journal of 
the European Union and with full compliance of the Regulations.  The Council’s Procurement 
Rules also require contracts over the value of £164,176.00 to be subject to competitive tender. 

The proposed procurement strategy is to use the HealthTrust Europe framework agreement for 
the supply of EU hardware devices which was procured in compliance with the Public Contracts 
Regulations following an OJEU advertisement.  The framework agreement is available to all 
local authorities and therefore may be accessed by the Council for the supply of EUC laptops 
and a contract(s) may be awarded in accordance with the provisions set out in the framework 
agreement. The framework agreement includes arrangements for hardware to be leased rather 
than purchased.

4.3 Environmental Implications
The Environmental impact assessment is an appendix to this paper.
 

4.4 Resident Impact Assessment:

The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and 
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those 
who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010).  The Council has a duty to have due 
regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in 
particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to 
participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and 
promote understanding. 

Page 95



A Resident Impact Assessment was completed in May 2019 and the complete Resident Impact 
Assessment is appended

5. Reason for recommendations

5.1 Procurement of a contract is required to provide replenishment of the Council’s EUC hardware 
as it is no longer fit for purpose.  Much of the existing hardware will not be compliant with 
security standards after 14 January 2020. 

5.2 It is recommended to award under HealthTrust Europe framework agreement and implement a 
call-off contract for the term of contract (four years) from the winning bidder of HP equipment, 
which is supplied by distributor, XMA Limited.

5.3 It is recommended that a residual value leasing arrangement is used as the payment 
mechanism.

Appendices
 Resident Impact Assessment
 Exempt Appendix 
 Environmental Impact Assessment

Background papers: 
 None

Final report clearance:

Signed by:

Executive Member for Finance Performance 
and Community Safety

Date: 1 July 2019

Report Author: John Kenny, 
Interim Enterprise Strategy and Architecture Manager

Tel: c/o 020 7517 5615
Email: john.kenny@islington.gov.uk 

Financial Implications Author: Mohammed Sajid
Chief Accountant

Tel: 020 7527 2574
Email: mohammed.sajid@islington.gov.uk 

Legal Implications Author: David Daniels
Assistant Director of Law

Tel: 020 7527 3277
Email: david.daniels@islington.gov.uk 

Page 96

mailto:john.kenny@islington.gov.uk
mailto:mohammed.sajid@islington.gov.uk
mailto:david.daniels@islington.gov.uk


www.islington.gov.uk

Resident Impact Assessment

End User Computer Purchase 

Islington Digital Services 

1. What are the intended outcomes of this policy, function etc? 

Provision of new corporate laptop devices for council employees

2. Resident Profile
Borough profile Service User profile
Total: 206,285 Total: N/A

Female 51%Gender
Male 49%
Under 16 32,825
16-24 29,418
25-44 87,177
45-64 38,669

Age

65+ 18,036
Disabled 16%Disability
Non-disabled 84%
LGBT No dataSexual 

orientation Heterosexual/straight No data
BME 52%Race
White 48%
Christian 40%
Muslim 10%
Other 4.5%

Religion or 
belief

No religion 30%
Religion not stated 17%

No impact to Resident profile 

Page 97



2

3. Equality impacts

This proposal will not be discriminatory for, or have any negative impacts on people with 
any of the protected characteristics and it will not have any negative impact on good 
relations between communities with protected characteristics or the rest of the population 
in Islington. 

4. Safeguarding and Human Rights impacts

Safeguarding risks and Human Rights breaches

This proposal will have no impact to safeguarding or human rights. 

5. Action

No mitigating actions are required.  

Action Responsible person or 
team 

Deadline

N/A

This Resident Impact Assessment has been completed in accordance with the guidance 
and using appropriate evidence.

Staff member completing this form: Head of Service or higher:

Signed: John Kenny Signed:   

Date: 06/06/2019 Date: 06/06/2019

Page 98



Environmental Impact Assessment

Contract name and number 1819-0022 Corporate end-user compute strategy

Short description of the contract Corporate end-user compute strategy - new laptops to replace 
4,500 of the existing estate

Value of contract £3,500,000

Date impact assessment completed 23rd May 2019

Completed by Suzanna Faria-Johnston 

An Environmental Impact Assessment must be carried out when a new product or service is to be 
procured.  If you have any queries, please contact the Strategic Procurement Team on: 
procurement@islington.gov.uk or the Energy Services Team: energyservices@islington.gov.uk

Please answer the questions below:

Question Yes/No
1 Will the product/service result in energy use during the life of the contract (or in the 

case of construction projects, will energy be used in the building when it is finished)?
e.g. heating and cooling, catering, white goods, office equipment, lighting, transport, etc.

Yes 

2 Will the product/service result in water use during the life of the contract (or in the case 
of construction projects, will water be used in the building when it is finished)?
e.g. swimming pools, parks and gardens, kitchen and bathroom facilities, etc.

No

3 Will the product/service result in material use during the life of the contract?
e.g. building materials, stationery,any other goods, etc.

No

4 Is there a possibility that the product/service may cause damage to biodiversity?
e.g. outdoor use of chemicals, habitat disturbance, etc.

No

5 Will the product/service result in waste being generated during the life of the contract?
e.g. construction, catering, electrical goods, repairs, furniture, office waste, etc.

       No

6 Will the product/service result in the use, storage, or disposal of chemicals or hazardous 
materials during the life of the contract?
e.g. cleaning chemicals, paint, oil, petrol, flammable materials, ink, pesticides

       No

7 Is there a potential of pollution from the product/service?
e.g. chemical spill, air pollution from plant or vehicles, fuel leak, noise, dust etc.

No

8 Is there a reputation risk to Islington Council or partners?
e.g. prosecution under environmental legislation or human rights violations/significant 
environmental impact of extracting raw materials

      No

Page 99

mailto:procurement@islington.gov.uk
mailto:energyservices@islington.gov.uk


Impact details
If any of the answers above are “Yes”, please give brief details of the impacts expected for each one:

 The contract will have two main environmental implications; resource usage during the 
manufacturing (e.g. rare earth metals) and delivery (e.g. packaging) of the goods, and the energy 
usage of the products once in use.

Mitigation measures
If you answered yes to any of the eight questions above, please give details of the mitigation measures 
you will put in place to reduce each of the impacts expected:

 With regards to energy usage, all desktop equipment is expected to be compliant and registered 
with the latest energy star as 

 In terms of material usage, each individual contract has express provision in respect of packaging 
to ensure that the principles of reduce, reuse and recycle are applied throughout the duration 
of the contract. The products will also be recycled at the end of their useful life, ensuring the 
resources will be reused. 

 In addition, suppliers are required to be certified to ISO 14001 (Environmental Management) in 
line with the requirements of Islington Council’s Environmental Policy.  

Tender or contractual requirements
What clauses will you include in your tender or contract to ensure the environmental implications are 
mitigated?1 

1 Examples may include asking potential bidders how they intend to minimise their impact, allocating a percentage score on 
environmental performance, or requiring bidders to deliver the service in a certain way (e.g. using zero emission vehicles, 
recycled paper or FSC-certified timber)

Page 100



 All desktop equipment is expected to be compliant and registered with the latest energy star

 Packaging is to be functional, but minimal in accordance with requirements.  

Please return this completed form to the Strategic Procurement team at procurement@islington.gov.uk 
and the Energy Services team at energyservices@islington.gov.uk. The form will be assessed and you 
will be contacted if further analysis of the environmental impacts of your procurement is necessary.

Page 101

mailto:procurement@islington.gov.uk
mailto:energyservices@islington.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 103

Agenda Item H1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 105

Agenda Item H2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	1 Appropriation of land for planning purposes - Wedmore Estate
	App 1 Planning Consent Wedmore
	App 2 Wedmore Estate RIA - Final

	2 Downsizers Dual Charge Relief (for Council Tax payers)
	C1 Procurement Strategy for Automotive Fuels
	RIA Fuel Procurement 19-20 Rev final

	D1 GP Surgeries Scrutiny - Recommendations from the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee
	Scrutiny Review GP  Surgeries

	E1 Procurement Strategy and Contract Award for End User Computing Hardware
	EUC Resident Impact Assessment signed
	EUC Purchase Environmental impact assessment

	H1 Procurement strategy and contract award for End User Computing - exempt appendix
	H2 Appropriation of land for planning purposes of site known as land at Wedmore Estate, Wedmore Street, London N19 - exempt appendix

